### UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE VIÇOSA CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS EXATAS E TECNOLÓGICAS DEPARTAMENTO DE ENGENHARIA ELÉTRICA

## LUÍS OTÁVIO MACIEL DE OLIVEIRA

### MODULAR MULTILEVEL CONVERTER: DESIGN, SIZING, CONTROL, SIMULATION AND APPLICATIONS

VIÇOSA 2016

## LUÍS OTÁVIO MACIEL DE OLIVEIRA

### MODULAR MULTILEVEL CONVERTER: DESIGN, SIZING, CONTROL, SIMULATION AND APPLICATIONS

Graduation thesis presented to the Departamento de Engenharia Elétrica from Centro de Ciências Exatas e Tecnológicas of the Universidade Federal de Viçosa, to obtain the credits from the course ELT 490 - Graduation Thesis and Seminar and fulfillment of a partial requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Electrical Engineering.

Advisor: Prof. Dr. José Carlos da Costa Campos.

### LUÍS OTÁVIO MACIEL DE OLIVEIRA

#### MODULAR MULTILEVEL CONVERTER: DESIGN, SIZING, CONTROL, SIMULATION AND APPLICATIONS

Graduation thesis presented to the *Departamento de Engenharia Elétrica* from *Centro de Ciências Exatas e Tecnológicas* of the *Universidade Federal de Viçosa*, to obtain the credits from the course ELT 490 - Graduation Thesis and Seminar and fulfillment of a partial requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Electrical Engineering.

Approved in 20 of July of 2016.

### EXAMINING COMMITTEE

Prof. Dr. José Carlos da Costa Campos - Advisor Universidade Federal de Viçosa

Prof. Dr. Tarcísio de Assunção Pizziolo - Member Universidade Federal de Viçosa

Prof. Daniel Khede Dourado Villa - Member Universidade Federal de Viçosa

To my family, which "encouraged" me to enroll an University. To my friends who invited me to drink and party. To caffeine, which supported me during the nights of study and hard work.

## Acknowledgment

I thank my family who supported me during every moment of my life, the teachers and mentors who have patience and trust in my work, all friends I acquired during the graduation which gave me the necessary support to complete this course. Thank CAPES for the opportunity to study in the Netherlands and CNPq for financial support in the researches I conducted, which helped developed this work. "Start by doing what's necessary; then do what's possible; and suddenly you are doing the impossible." Francis of Assisi

#### Abstract

The modular multilevel converter (MMC) has being increasingly used for medium/high-power applications due its advantages over the traditional converters topologies, especially the two and three-level voltage-source converter (VSC) for high-voltage direct current (HVDC) transmission system. Along with this the MMCs has being a subject of highlight within research groups.

Thus, this thesis is divided into two major parts. The first one provides a general overview of the MMC topologies along with submodules (SMs) circuit configurations, sizing of the MMC elements (SM capacitor and arm inductor), protection circuits and filters. The control techniques, simulation models with respective challenges are also carried out in the first part of this thesis along with a comparative study of the mathematical effort necessary to simulate the different models and the its accuracy.

The simulation of detailed MMC models requires a large computational time. Also engineer time is wasted in order to modify the number of submodules in these simulations. The second part of this graduation thesis develops a generic mathematical averaged-value model (AVM) based on state-space representation for a MMC. The results show that the use of the AVM represents with accuracy the MMC behavior with less processing time.

## Contents

	Contents	9
	List of Figures 1	0
	List of Tables	1
1	INTRODUCTION 1	2
2	CONVERTER DESIGN	4
2.1	MMC Topology	4
2.2	Submodules Topology	5
3	SIZING AND DESIGN 1	8
3.1	SM Capacitor	8
3.2	Arm Inductor	9
3.3	Alternative Methods	21
3.4	Protection Circuit	22
3.5	Filters	24
4	CONTROL TECHNIQUES	25
4.1	Individual Balancing Control	25
4.2	Average Voltage Control	26
4.3	Cluster Balancing Control	26
4.4	Circulating Current Control	26
4.5	Circulating Current Suppression	27
5	SIMULATION MODELS	28
5.1	Type I: Physics-Based Models [86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92]         2	28
5.2	Type II: Detailed Nonlinear IGBT-Based Model [19]       2	28
5.3	Type III: Simplified IGBT-Based Model	29
5.4	Type IV: Thévenin Equivalent Circuit [24, 70]	29
5.5	Type Va: AVMs Based on Switching Functions [19, 95]	30
5.6	Type VIa: Generic AVMs Based on Switching Functions	32
5.7	Type Vb and Vlb: AVMs Based on Fundamental Frequency [95]	32
6	PERFORMANCE STUDY	33
6.1	Simulation Index	33
6.1.1	Index Calculation	33
6.1.2	Comparison	35
6.2	Results	36
7	STATE-SPACE REPRESENTATION	10

7.1	MMC Topology
7.2	MMC Control Method
7.2.1	Averaging control
7.2.2	Balancing control
7.3	Mathematical Model
7.3.1	State-space equations
7.3.2	MMC control
7.4	Results
7.4.1	Single-phase MMC with 4 submodules
7.4.2	Single-phase MMC with 8 submodules
7.4.3	Three-phase MMC with 8 submodules per arm
7.4.4	Processing time
8	CONCLUSION
	BIBLIOGRAPHY
	APPENDIX A – MMC AND SM TOPOLOGIES COMPARATION
	APPENDIX B – INDEX RESULTS
	List of Figures

## List of Figures

Figure 1 – Circuit configuration of different MMCs.	14
Figure 2 – Submodules configurations	16
Figure 3 – Capacitance for different values of $k_{max}$ and $k_{dc}$ .	19
Figure 4 – $C_{min}$ for different values of $g_v$ and $\varphi$ .	20
Figure 5 – Resonant inductance for different values of arm capacitance and fundamental frequency of	
50 and 60 Hz	21
Figure 6 – Coupled inductor.	22
Figure 7 – Modular hybrid IGBT DC breaker.	23
Figure 8 – Protective switches.	23
Figure 9 – Filter used in a MMC.	24
Figure 10 – Detailed models	29
Figure 11 – HBSM models	29
Figure 12 – High accuracy AVM for HBSM and FBSM	31
Figure 13 – Equivalent SM configuration.	31
Figure 14 – Equivalent AVM representation for HBSM ans FBSM.	32
Figure 15 – Example signal (phase: $\pi/4$ ).	33
Figure 16 – Difference areas of the signal in Figure 15.	34
Figure 17 – FFT of the signals in Figure 15	35
Figure 18 – HB-MMC with 4 submodules per arm.	36
Figure 19 – Simulation results with constant load.	38

Figure 20 – Simulation results with variable load.	39
Figure 21 – Circuit schematic of a double-star type multilevel converter.	40
Figure 22 – Block diagrams of a MMC control [28].	41
Figure 23 – Equivalent circuits for different submodules inserted.	43
Figure 24 – Simulated waveforms for a single-phase MMC with 4 submodules	47
Figure 25 – Simulated waveforms for a single-phase MMC with 8 submodules	49
Figure 26 – Simulated waveforms for a three-phase MMC with 8 submodules per arm	50

# List of Tables

Table 1	_	Required time for simulation of the HB-MMC 3'	7
Table 2	_	Switching submodule states	1
Table 3	_	Circuit Parameters Used for Simulation	6
Table 4	_	Control Gains Used for Simulation	6
Table 5	_	Circuit Parameters Used for Simulation	8
Table 6	_	Control Gains Used for Simulation	8
Table 7	_	Processing time required	8
Table 8	_	Comparison of Various MMC Topologies	3
Table 9	_	Comparison of Various SM Topologies [39]	3
Table 10	) —	Index results from the signals on Figure 19	4
Table 11		Index results from the signals on Figure 20	4

### 1 Introduction

Nowadays, the converters used in power electronics are being constantly improved and needed for a wide range of applications. Furthermore, the demand for electricity has grown really fast in the last years (especially in economies such as China, India and Japan), bringing new challenges to these fields [1, 2]. As one of these applications, renewable power generation and transmission are one of the main areas where voltage-sourced converters (VSC) are required [3]. Currently, VSC are widely used for long-distances high voltage transmission, especially in the voltage-sourced converter based high voltage direct current (VSC-HVDC) [4, 5].

The increasing use of VSC-HVDC is mainly due to several advantages compared to line-commutated converter (LCC)-based HVDC transmission [6]. The construction of a VSC is based generally on insulated-gate bipolar transistors (IGBTs), controlled by pulse-width modulation (PWM) and it is able to control separately active and reactive power [7, 8]. A wide range of VSC-HVDC topologies have been used for different applications. The most used are: two-level, multilevel diode-clamped and floating capacitor multilevel converters [3].

Despite those traditional converters, a new trend has been observed with the use of modular multilevel converters (MMC), first proposed by Marquardt and Lesnicar in 2003 [9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20]. Comparing with other VSC topologies, in a MMC different voltage levels can be reached depending on: 1) the number of submodules (SMs), 2) the connection between the SMs, and 3) the SM topology. Higher number of SMs provides a better quality output voltage with very high efficiency, requires lower PWM switching frequency, reaches higher voltages and makes unnecessary the use of harmonic filters [20, 21]. However, increasing the number of submodules also requires a complex hardware to control the converter. The main advantages, control techniques and a complete overview about this topology are described in [22]. Gemmell *et al.* [9] summarizes the essential differences and advantages in the use of the MMC over familiar VSC topologies.

The high number of components in the MMC, especially IGBTs and capacitors, results in a challenge concerning modeling this converter in simulation software with detailed models (DMs). A small numerical integration time is important to reproduce accurately the converter behavior. Consequently, the necessary computing timing is increased. Furthermore, in order to modify the number of submodules or to change the submodule topology, it is necessary to modify the simulation model or even create a new one. Hence, simplified models or average-value models (AVMs) have been used in order to replicate with accuracy the converter operation with lower computing timing. The use of AVMs requires less computational processing and can use large incremental time [23]. Different approaches and reduced models have been studied and used for different analysis [19, 24, 25, 26, 27].

Although most of the AVMs produce good results, there are just a few models which include the submodules and the capacitors into account. These models are important in order to validate the control technique used, verifying the submodules capacitors voltage.

Over the last decade, the operation and control of different MMCs has been studied under many applications. The first part of this thesis provide a review about the uses of MMC. It will be focused on its topologies, sizing, protection circuits and filters. Chapter 2 introduces the MMCs topologies along with some SM circuit configurations that are used in the converter design. The components sizing, protection circuits and filters design will be present in Chapter 3. An overwien about the control techniques will be presented in

13

Chapter 4. Chapter 5 will discuss the different models used in order to simulate the converter while Chapter 6 will present the a performance study over each model described.

The second part of this thesis presents a generic mathematical model, based on state-space variables, to simulate a MMC with N submodules, it can be also implemented in any mathematical software including a method to reproduce both the system by state-space equations and the mathematical model. This study will be show in Chapter 7 along with a comparison between the DMs and the state-space model.

### 2 Converter Design

#### 2.1 MMC Topology

Figure 1 shows a design (schematic diagram) of four three-phase MMC topologies. The MMC consists in a connection between N SMs (normally in series connection) in order to produce the voltage levels required. The MMC also uses inductors (l) to suppress high-frequency components in the SMs current. These connections and components can be seen in Figure 1.

The MMCs topologies on Figure 1 can be divided as the following circuits:

1. The double-star-configured (DSC) MMC [18, 28, 29, 30]: This topology requires a common dc-link (in our case represented by two voltage sources) with the purpose to charge the capacitors inside each SM and contribute to the output voltage, as show in Figure 1(a). The dc voltage, then number of submodules per arm N and the capacitors voltage will define the output voltage range that can be generated. An inductor l is connected in series with each set of SMs in each arm to suppress current



(a) The double-star-configured MMC.



(c) The single-star-configured MMC.



(b) The dual MMC.



(d) The single-delta-configured MMC.

Figure 1 – Circuit configuration of different MMCs.

ripples. In order to achieve better performance the two non coupled buffer inductors in each arm can be replaced by a single coupled inductor. The advantages of using a coupled inductor will be explained in Chapter 3. Based on its layout, the DSC can be used to generate as many output phases as required with different voltage levels and frequencies. The DSC topology is being used essentially in AC/DC converter and medium-voltage motor drives [31].

- 2. The dual MMC [28]: Although this topology is not well known its use becomes highly attractive for low-voltage large-current applications. Hagiwara *et al.* [28] proposed this topology based at the DSC topology. The differences between the dual MMC and the DSC are: the SMs connection, the common capacitor and the buffer inductors (*l*), as can be seen in Figure 1(b), . Each SM of the dual MMC has its own buffer inductor, and each compound set of inductor and SM is connected in parallel to each other and with a common dc capacitor. The dual MMC can be also used to generate different output phases. However, compared with the DSC, less current flows through the elements in this topology.
- 3. The single-star-configured (SSC) MMC [18, 30, 32]: The diagram configuration of this topology is shown in Figure 1(c). This topology uses a set of N SMs in series connection with a buffer inductor l for each phase. As can be seen, the MMC legs are connected in a star connection. Because of this layout, the SSC-MMC can be used only in three-phase systems. The SSC is mainly applied in static synchronous compensators (STATCOMs), SVC and battery energy storage system (BESS) [31].
- 4. The single-delta-configured (SDC) MMC [18, 30, 32]: The circuit configuration for this topology is shown Figure 1(d). The only difference between the SSC and the delta configured MMC: the delta connection between the arms, which affect the voltage and current ratings. The major uses for the SDC-MMC are the same as the SSC [31, 33].

Different topologies from the ones listed in this thesis can be found for different applications. Among them the MMC in matrix configuration (consisting three star-configured in parallel) and hexagonal configuration (hexverter or 'double' delta configuration) are noteworthy [30, 31, 34]. They are used to interconnect different AC networks and in electric drive applications. These topologies have been proposed as alternatives to the typical AC/DC/AC back-to-back MMC configurations.

An interesting analysis has been made in [35, 36] with the use of a DSC-MMC based STATCOM with 4 legs to be connected in unbalanced systems. With the control of the fourth arm, responsible to handle the grid's zero-sequence current and voltage, the MMC is used for compensation of reactive power, harmonics and load balancing. With the same objectives an extended-MMC (EMMC) based on the SDC-MMC is proposed in [37]. Comparing with the MMC proposed in [35, 36, 37], the EMMC manage more accurately compensation for high-power applications.

Table 8 in Appendix A has summarized different characteristics of the most used topologies nowadays, using the same SM topology (full-bridge) [38]. However, the number of available topologies is constantly evolving and new topologies can be found for specific applications.

#### 2.2 Submodules Topology

Plenty SMs topologies are design to achieve different voltage levels, power losses and in some cases offer a short-circuit fault handling capability for different applications. Figure 2 shows a schematic for the most used SM topologies [39] along with the current path under DC-fault operation. As can be seen, a SM consists



Figure 2 – Submodules configurations.

in a connection between capacitors, IGBTs and diodes. The IGBTs are responsible to insert the capacitors on the MMC arm, generating the desired voltage level.

The SMs topologies on Figure 2 can be described by the following circuits:

- 1. The half-bridge SM (HBSM) or chopper-cell circuit [2, 18, 28]: The HBSM is based on a cascade connection between two IGBTs and a capacitor, as shown in Figure 2(a). The output voltage of a HBSM is either the capacitor voltage  $v_c$  (when the SM is switched on) or zero (when the SM is switched off) depending on the switching states of the IGBTs [9, 11, 12].
- 2. The full-bridge SM (FBSM) circuit [2, 17, 18]: The FBSM can achieve 3 voltage levels depending on the switching states of the four IGBTs: zero,  $v_c$  and  $-v_c$ , as can be seen analyzing the possible IGBTs states in Figure 2(b),. Since the number of semiconductor devices in a FBSM are twice of HBSM, the switching losses and the cost of FBSM is higher than a HBSM. Although, this topology is able to limit the arms DC-fault currents. It can cut off arms currents by inserting the appropriate polarity of the capacitor in the arm [11].
- 3. The three-level SM (3LSM) circuit [40, 41]: The 3LSM is composed of both a three-level flying capacitor (3LSM-FC) and three-level neutral-point-clamped (3LSM-NPC), as shown in Figure 2(c) and 2(d). The switching losses are between the losses of a HBSM and the FBSM. However, the 3LSM does not provide a DC short-circuit proof feature such as the FBSM topology.
- 4. The clamp-double SM (CDSM) circuit [11]: The CDSM is composed of two HBSM interconnected by an IGBT S5 and two additional diodes, as shown in Figure 2(e). Under normal operation this IGBT is always switched on and the CDSM acts as a two series-connected HBSM. The CDSM has lower

semiconductor losses than the FBSM. As the full-bridge, this topology have the capability of blocking the dc-fault current.

5. The five-level cross-connected SM (5LCCSM) circuit [42]: The 5LCCSM consists of two HBSM interconnected back-to-back by two IGBTs, S5 and S6, as shown in Figure 2(f). This topology has the same semiconductor losses as the CDSM has and it can also block the short-circuit current.

Table 9 in Appendix A compares the SMs in terms of the semiconductor power losses and the required number of semiconductor components for the same MMC topology with 21 voltage levels [39].

Due to wide applicability of the MMCs, new MMC and SM topologies or hybrid designs have been made to achieve maximum performance with reliability. On the other hand, these topologies may not be commercially viable mainly due to patent protection.

Qin et al. [39] proposes a five hybrid MMC configurations (based on the combination of the HBSM and other SM topologies) with a dc-fault-handling capability (compared with the HBSM). They also have lower power losses and semiconductor device requirements than the required with the current topologies. Adam et al. [43] and Zeng et al. [44] present a hybrid MMC that combines FBSM and HBSM, which compared with the FBSM has the same dc-fault-handling capability using fewer semiconductor devices. Dargahi et al. [45] studies a modified topology for flying-capacitor multicell converters (FCMCs) as a modular submultilevel module capable to generate n voltage levels using n-1 cells. A series/parallel SM connection was proposed in [46]. The parallel SM connectivity reduces the conductivity losses and can be used for balancing the capacitors enabling stable operation of a MMC without monitoring the SM capacitor voltage.

### 3 Sizing and Design

All the elements which are in a MMC demands a correct sizing in order to behavior as we expect. This means, it must respect the grid codes requirements. The SM capacitance C for instance is sized in order to reduce voltage ripples or maximum energy ripple in the arms. However, the arm inductor l is chosen to suppress arm and circulating current. Although, the exact value of the arm inductance depends on the SM capacitor voltage, the modulation technique, the switching frequency and an additional controller optionally used for suppressing the circulating current. Along with that, a protection circuit should be inserted in the MMC in special cases (a circuit to bypass a SM when it is defective e.g.) and it may be necessary to use filters to improve the MMC operation.

Different topologies may require different sizing methods. This thesis will focus on the sizing of a DSC-MMC as shown in Figure 1(a) with HBSM. Nevertheless, each sizing technique is appropriated for an range of applications and the reader is encouraged to test different methods.

#### 3.1 SM Capacitor

To control the energy ripple Kolb *et al.* [47] calculates the capacitance by

$$C = \frac{\Delta W_{max}}{N \cdot v_{C,avg} \cdot \Delta v_C} \tag{3.1}$$

where  $\Delta W_{max}$  is the maximum energy pulsation (excess energy) in each arm, N is the number of SMs per arm,  $v_{C,avg}$  is the average voltage value and  $\Delta v_C$  the voltage ripple of one SM calculated by

$$v_{C,avg} = \frac{v_{C,max} + v_{C,min}}{2} \tag{3.2}$$

$$\Delta v_C = \frac{1}{3} (v_{C,max} - v_{C,min}).$$
(3.3)

The minimum voltage  $v_{C,min}$  is

$$v_{c,min} = E/N \tag{3.4}$$

where E is the DC-link voltage and the maximum voltage  $v_{C,max}$  is sated by a portion of the nominal voltage of the capacitor used. The most adopted limit for this voltage is  $1.1v_{C,min}$ .

Ilves *et al.* [48] proposes a capacitor sizing method for SMs with the capacitor reference voltage  $v_{C,ref}$  different from the one described in (3.4) and the capacitor maximum voltage  $v_{C,max}$  lower than the rated voltage of the SM, accordingly

$$v_{C,ref} = k_{dc} \cdot E/N \tag{3.5}$$

$$v_{C,max} \le k_{max} \cdot E/N. \tag{3.6}$$

The minimum capacitance proposed is

$$C_{min} = \frac{2N \cdot \Delta W_{max}}{E^2 (k_{max}^2 - k_{dc}^2)}.$$
(3.7)

Figure 3 shows a graph with the capacitance value with different values of  $k_{max}$  and  $k_{dc}$  for a MMC with 5 SMs per arm, dc-link voltage E = 600V and maximum energy pulsation  $\Delta W_{max} = 30J$ . This value was



Figure 3 – Capacitance for different values of  $k_{max}$  and  $k_{dc}$ .

defined taking into account that in literature values between 20 and 40 KJ/MV are used for the energy  $W_{max}$  in each arm. Most applications uses  $k_{dc} = 1$  and  $k_{max} = 1.1$  but under special circumstances the MMC can operate with different values.

A capacitor sizing method based on the maximum energy stored in capacitors of a three-phase MMC  $E_{MMCmax}$  is proposed by Zygmanowski *et al.* [49]. The arm capacitance  $C_{arm}$  can be calculated using

$$C_{arm} = \frac{C}{N} = \frac{E_{MMCmax}}{3E^2} = \frac{2N \cdot E_{Cmax}}{E^2}$$
(3.8)

where  $E_{Cmax}$  is the maximum energy stored in one capacitor and it is assumed  $v_{C,ref} = E/N$ .

A capacitor size method which takes into account the load is used by Cunico et al. [50] and the minimum capacitance value is obtained by

$$C_{min} = \frac{2P_1}{v_c^2 \cdot \delta \cdot g_v \cdot \omega_o \cdot N} \sqrt{\left[1 - \left(\frac{g_v \cdot \cos(\varphi)}{2}\right)^2\right]^3}$$
(3.9)

where  $P_1$  is the single phase apparent power,  $\omega_o$  is the fundamental frequency in radians,  $\delta$  the percentage voltage ripple (%),  $\cos(\varphi)$  is the load power factor and with the voltage ratio

$$g_v = 2V_o/E \tag{3.10}$$

and  $V_o$  the peak value of the ac-side.

Figure 4 shows how the minimum capacitance  $C_{min}$  changes with different values of  $g_v$  and load displacement angle  $\varphi$  for a MMC with  $P_1 = 150MW$ ,  $\delta = 10$ ,  $v_c = 120V$  and  $\omega_o = 100\pi$ .

#### 3.2 Arm Inductor

Kolb *et al.* [47] proposes the arm inductor sizing to not exceed a maximum ripple circulating current  $\Delta i_{Zx,max}$ , in the phase x for DSC-MMCs which uses symmetrical triangular carrier signals to generate the



Figure 4 –  $C_{min}$  for different values of  $g_v$  and  $\varphi$ .

PWM signals. The circulating current  $i_{Zx}$  is calculated by

$$i_{Zx} = \frac{1}{2}(i_{Px} + i_{Nx}) \tag{3.11}$$

where  $i_{Px}$  and  $i_{Nx}$  are the upper and lower arm current respectively. The inductance can be obtained by

$$L = \frac{a_{Lx} \cdot T_a}{2\Delta i_{Zx}} \cdot \frac{v_{x,max}}{N}$$
(3.12)

where  $a_{Lx}$  is the duty cycle which causes the highest flux linkage (which depends on the modulation technique),  $T_a$  is the switching cycle and  $v_{x,max}$  is the maximum SM voltage in a phase x (obtained by adding all SM maximum voltages).

Alternatively to this method in which is necessary to know the value of  $a_L x$ , Tu *et al.* [51] uses a method to limits the peak value of the double-fundamental-frequency circulating current  $I_{2f}$ . Thus, the arm inductor is calculated by

$$L = \frac{1}{8\omega_o^2 \cdot C \cdot v_C} \left(\frac{P_s}{I_{2f}} + E\right)$$
(3.13)

where  $P_s$  the apparent power defined as

$$P_s = E \cdot i_d / \cos(\varphi) \tag{3.14}$$

where  $i_d$  is the dc-link current.

The second inductor sizing method used by Tu *et al.* [51] consists in limiting the current rise in fault conditions. Since the worst considered fault case is a short circuit applied in the dc-link bus, the sum of the voltage of the SMs inserted during the fault is equal to E. Then,

$$l\frac{di_{Px}}{dt} + l\frac{di_{Nx}}{dt} - E = 0. ag{3.15}$$

Since the upper and lower current are supposed to be equal during the fault  $i_{Px} = i_{Nx}$ , leading to:

$$\alpha = \frac{di_{Px}}{dt} = \frac{di_{Nx}}{dt} = \frac{E}{2l}.$$
(3.16)

And the inductor l is

$$l = \frac{E}{2\alpha}.\tag{3.17}$$

The inductor analysis proposed by Zygmanowski *et al.* [49] is based on the resonant effect that occur in both converter arms. The inductance is selected with the objective to suppress any high frequency components of arm currents. This can be done avoiding resonances in the circulating current for an arm capacitance  $C_{arm}$ , thus

$$l_r = \frac{1}{C_{arm} \cdot \omega_o^2} \frac{2(h^2 - 1) + m_a^2 \cdot h^2}{8h^2(h^2 - 1)}, \quad \text{for } h = 2n, n = 1, 2, \dots, \infty$$
(3.18)

where  $l_r$  is the resonance arm inductance, h is the harmonic order and  $m_a$  the modulation index in which the MMC operates.

With the objective of suppress arm currents of second and fourth order in most applications a region with potentially high current harmonic can be found using (3.18). This region is composed by the area between inductance values for h = 2,  $m_a = 1$  and h = 4,  $m_a = 0.1$  which is indicated in Figure 5 for a fundamental frequency of 50 and 60 Hz. The arm inductance *l* should be outside this region, usually higher. Nevertheless, an arm inductance inside the warming region can be used if there is a circulating current suppression control [49].

#### 3.3 Alternative Methods

Pirouz *et al.* [35] determines the capacitance of the 4 legs MMC with HBSM discussed in Section II. The method takes into account the instantaneous current passing through each SM when its have the highest fluctuation of load current and the maximum voltage ripple  $\Delta v_C$  desired. The inductance is calculated using the capacitor reference voltage  $v_{C,ref}$  given by (3.4), the switching frequency and the maximum arm current ripple desired. Alternatively, the capacitance can be calculated on the basis of the maximum dc-link voltage ripple, the switching frequency and the nominal current rating for each SM [36, 37].

A capacitor sizing based on the analysis on dc, first- and second-harmonic average arm current is proposed by Sztykiel *et al.* [52]. Based also in the 1st and 2nd harmonic arm currents, a criterion for sizing the arm



Figure 5 – Resonant inductance for different values of arm capacitance and fundamental frequency of 50 and 60 Hz.

inductor is used along with the maximum rate of change of a possible dc short-circuit between arms. The chosen inductance is the higher one obtained from the two sizing methods. Merlin *et al.* [53] uses a method based on the same principle as the one used in (3.1) for different MMC topologies comparing them. Hillers and Biela [54] presents a sizing method to MMCs for BESS which is based in (3.7) for the SM capacitor. The inductor used is based in a LCL-type filter using one inductor per arm and/or one for each phase. A sizing method is proposed taking into account the maximum current in case of fault, the grid voltage and the total delay in the control loop used.

A new trend has been observed with the use of a single coupled inductor instead the two noncoupled buffer inductor in each arm of a DSC-MMC. Compared with the noncouple inductor the single inductor presents reduction in size, weight and cost. Figure 6 shows the circuit configuration of a coupled inductor. In the DSC-MMC the terminals a and b are connected in the upper and lower arms respectively, while c is connected to the load.

Since the relation of  $l_{ab} = 4l_{ac} = 4l_{bc}$  is presented in a coupled inductor, it does not affect  $i_o$  since the magnetic fluxes produced in  $i_P$  and  $i_N$  cancel each other [18, 28]. The use of couple inductor in a SDC-MMC can be found in [33]. Despite the advantages of using a coupled inductor, its use still not widespread.

Finally as recurrence, the parameters  $(C, C_{arm}, l, N, ...)$  chosen in different MMCs used in the literature are presented in [49].

#### 3.4 Protection Circuit

Although the elements on a IGBT are sized for normal operation, when the MMC is submitted into special conditions a protection circuit needs to be inserted in order to not cause any damage to the MMC components.

The first condition to analyze is the start-up of an MMC. When the MMC starts all the capacitors are discharged and the current through an arm increases rapidly. To restrict the current peak value an easy solution is insert a circuit consisting in a resistor in parallel with a switch in series with either the dc-link, each phase (in a AC-DC converter) or each arm inductor. When the MMC starts the switch is turned off and the resistor is connected in the circuit until the capacitors charge-up, turning the switch on and removing the resistor [16, 18]. Into simulations, an arm resistance also needs to be inserted in series with the inductor representing inner inductor resistances and the converter losses. Analysis of MMCs in which the arm resistor (for start-up process or losses representation) are taken into consideration can be found in [18, 29, 30, 31, 48, 49].

Other situation which a protection circuit is demanded is when a short-circuit occurs. In the short circuit period the IGBTs are blocked but current continues to flow through anti-parallel diodes across the IGBTs. In a MMC using only SM topologies with no DC-fault-handling capability the current flows thought these diodes without the insertion of the SM capacitor in the circuit, as can be seen on Figure 2. Resulting in extremely high current and damage if the short circuit is not disconnected [11, 20]. Even though the arm



Figure 6 – Coupled inductor.

inductor has influence on the transient states, the final fault current is the arm and dc-link resistance, which are as low as possible [15]. Thus, DC breakers are being used for HVDC systems.

As example, Häfner *et al.* [55] proposes and tests a modular hybrid IGBT DC breaker for reliable dc grids in which the dc current needs to be interrupted within less than tens of ms with minimal losses. A schematic diagram for this DC breaker is shown in Figure 7, consisting in the main DC breaker (separated into several sections with individual arrester banks) in parallel with a fast mechanical disconnector and an auxiliary dc breaker. In a normal operation the current flows only through the bypass switch. When the dc fault occurs the auxiliary DC breaker commutates the current to the main DC breaker and the fast disconnector opens (with opening times below 2ms). Thus, with the mechanical switch in open position, the main DC breaker breaks the current. After fault clearance, the residual DC current breaker isolates the faulty line to protect the arrester banks of the hybrid DC breaker from thermal overload.

The SM fault also has to be considered. One of the most used and simple ways to remove the SM from the circuit is inserting a high-speed bypass switch between the SM terminals, represented by K1 in Figure 8. Then with adequate control, the SM is removed from the circuit and the terminal voltage becomes equal to zero. In some situations the capacitor voltage can also becomes zero. The use of bypass switches along with higher number of SM than the necessary, operating in conditions below their nominal values, are essential in MMCs for uninterpretable applications [9, 13, 14, 16, 41, 52].

In order to prevent high current through the elements in a SM a press-pack thyristor (known for their high capability to withstand surge currents) can be inserted in parallel with the SM terminals, represented by T1 in Figure 8. After detecting a high current throw the MMC arm (in a fault i.e.), the T1 is fired preserving the SM elements which have low capacity for withstanding surge current events related to their silicon surface, i.e. [13, 16, 41, 52].



Figure 7 – Modular hybrid IGBT DC breaker.



Figure 8 – Protective switches.

#### 3.5 Filters

Higher numbers of SMs in a MMC implies in a better quality voltage output making the use of filters unnecessary [20]. Nevertheless, the quality of the voltage can be further improved using filter to eliminate the harmonics caused by the switching of the semiconductors i.e., and necessaries in weak grids or with MMC with small number of SM.

Sztykiel *et al.* [52] proposes the use of a high frequency filter for a AC-DC DSC-MMC. The filter is used for reactive power compensation at point of common coupling (between the arm inductors). The filter used is design as a 2nd order high-pass filter and modeled with a capacitor  $C_f$  in series with a set of an inductor  $L_f$  and a resistor  $R_f$  in parallel, as shown in Figure 9(a). The circuit is then connected between the point of common coupling and ground. The filter sizing is calculated from:

$$C_f = 6 \left(\frac{I_{arm}}{V_{AC}}\right)^2 l \tag{3.19}$$

$$L_f = \frac{1}{C_f \sqrt{2\pi f_{res}}} \cong \frac{1}{C_f \sqrt{2\pi f_{sw}}}$$
(3.20)

$$R_f = 2\pi \cdot f_{res} \cdot L_f \cdot q \tag{3.21}$$

where  $I_{arm}$  is the arm current,  $V_{AC}$  is the equivalent AC voltage source (calculated using Thevenin),  $f_{res}$  is the resonant frequency, which should be close to effective switching frequency  $f_{sw}$  of the MMC converter and q is the quality factor [52].

Ilves *et al.* [56] proposes the use of a main-circuit filter, designed to block the 2nd order harmonic in the circulating current in a DC-AC DSC-MMC [57]. The main-filter is composed of two series inductor  $L_f$  in parallel with a capacitor  $C_f$ . The filter in then connected in series with the arm inductors, thus the ac side is now connected in the common coupling of the filter inductors as shown in Figure 9(b). The main filter capacitance is given by:

$$C_f = \frac{1}{8\omega_o^2 \cdot L_f} \tag{3.22}$$

from a arbitrary value of  $L_f$  [56].

As another example, Kolb *et al.* [58] implements a LC-filter in the ac-side of a DC-AC DSC-MMC with single coupled inductor. The filter used has also the objective of remove harmonics in the range of the switching frequency.



Figure 9 – Filter used in a MMC.

### 4 Control Techniques

Despite the active, reactive (or positive and negative voltage sequence) and dc-bus voltage control using abc,  $\alpha\beta$  or dq representation implemented in almost the totally of the converters [19, 24, 33, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72], the MMC requires some additional controllers in order to keep the system stable and achieve higher efficiency. The most common controls will be shown below.

#### 4.1 Individual Balancing Control

All SMs capacitor voltages must be balanced and stable during normal operation [9]. Wherefore all the capacitor voltage needs to be controlled by changing the SM reference in order to insert or remove the capacitor from the circuit. To achieve this control techniques based on Balancing Control Algorithm (BCA) are been used.

The conventional BCA (also known as Reduced Switching-Frequency (RSF) voltage-balancing algorithm) [10, 12, 73, 74] requires the capacitor voltages and arm currents to be measured periodically, them the SMs are sorted in ascending order. Along with the number of SMs to be inserted given by the reference voltage desired and the PWM technique used the SMs to be turned on or off are selected as follow:

- If the arm current is in a direction to charge the capacitors, the SMs with lowest voltages are switched on while those with highest voltages are switched off.
- If the arm current is in a direction to discharge the capacitors, the SMs with highest voltages are switched on while those with lowest voltages are switched off.

The main drawback associate with this technique is the use of high switching frequency as the measurements are taken at every PWM period. A different BCA is found in [10, 75] where the SMs are switched ON or OFF only when the reference signals crosses one of the carrier waves on the Phase-Shift Pulse Width Modulation (PS-PWM) i.e. the number of SMs to be inserted changed. An modification in this method is proposed by Tu *et al.* [76] and can be summarized as follow:

- If an extra SM needs to be switched on, no switching is applied to those who are already inserted and the BCA will be used on those SMs in off-state.
- If an extra SM needs to be switched off, no switching is applied to those who are already bypassed and the BCA will be used on those SMs in on-state.

Compared to the conventional BCA method, these RSF voltage balancing algorithm reduces the device switching frequency and consequentially the total switching losses.

Although the BCAs described keep the average capacitor voltages constant yet may occurs a considerable voltage ripple on the capacitor as the switching frequency and number of SMs decrease. A BCA using proportional controller has been presented in [64] with the objective to forces each capacitor to follow the average voltage in its cluster (phase) of a SSC-MMC. Three BCAs similar controllers are presented in [28, 77] for a DSC-MMC and a HB-MMC using a constant reference instead the average. The first method multiples the output signal by the direction of the upper or lower arm currents (i.e. 1 if the current charges the capacitors and -1 otherwise), the second multiples it by the arm current value itself and the third method

multiples it by the MMC output current. The output signal is them added to the reference voltage signal of each SM.

Compared with the BCA methods described before these methods have the advantage of keeping the device switching frequency the same as the PWM carrier frequency and no need to sort the SMs based on the capacitor voltage. Nevertheless, the use of a proportional controller to each SM increases the mathematical effort on the controller used as the number of SM increase.

An BCA used in MMCs for a transformerless medium-voltage motor drive using the same principle as the third method described can be found in [78] using the arm voltage reference instead the arm current. The advantage is by using the voltage, the motor current is not affected during the start up process. A similar BCA as the first method is presented in [65] for a SSC-MMC. In this case the active power reference signal is used instead of the arm current signal to multiple the reference (i.e. 1 if the active reference power is positive and -1 otherwise).

#### 4.2 Average Voltage Control

The voltage across each capacitor can controlled using BCA method. Although it depends on the arm current. An average voltage control can be used in order to give a reference for the circulating current control which will be explained in the next section. The controlled variable in this case is the average voltage over all capacitors.

A method Proportional Integral (PI) controller is presented in [28, 77]. The general idea is increase the circulating current value when the average voltage is below the set point and decrease its value otherwise. Then the capacitor voltages present a faster response and a stable value.

#### 4.3 Cluster Balancing Control

Similar to the average voltage control this method has the objective to control not the average voltage across all capacitor but the average voltage across each MMC arm by given the reference for the arm currents, thus each arm requires a independently controller. Again this method is implemented by Hagiwara *et al.* using PI controllers for both DSC-MMC and HB-MMC [28, 77]. Its use in a SSC-MMC where the output of each cluster control is then added to give the reference for the circulating current control is demonstrated in [33].

Maharjan *et al.* [65] uses a series of proportional controllers to maintain the average voltage of each arm in a SSC-MMC equals to the dc mean voltage of all capacitors. The strategy is divided in a outer control responsible to give the dc arm current reference for the inner control, responsible to generate a reference to all capacitors in the cluster.

#### 4.4 Circulating Current Control

This controller has the objective to control the circulating current or the MMC arm currents without affecting the output current. Hagiwara *et al.* implement a PI controller with the reference given by the average voltage in a SSC-MMC [28, 77] and a proportional controller with the reference from the cluster balancing control in a SSC-MMC [33]. The controller response is them added to the SM reference voltage which by inserting or removing the capacitor from the circuit will affect the circulating current.

Alternatively, Bergna *et al.* [66] proposes a control methods based on the representation model used in [79]. The method consist in using a feed-forward technique to eliminate the voltage disturbance caused by the output current.

#### 4.5 Circulating Current Suppression

Unbalanced voltages between the MMC arms introduces a high  $2^{nd}$  harmonic component which increases the RMS value of the current, the SM voltage ripple and the converter losses. Thus this component impacts the rating of SM capacitors and semiconductor devices [79]. Circulating currents can be eliminating by introducing an active control using PI controllers such as the proposed in [76, 79, 80]. The  $2^{nd}$  harmonic component is suppressed in theses cases indirectly by means of arm voltages. The study described in [66] eliminates this harmonic component by using a resonant proportional integral controller with the reference generated by filtering the sum of all capacitor voltages.

Along with control strategies the undesired circulating current can be reduced by means of design the inductor at a given current peak value [51] or by inserting a main-circuit filter (resonant filter) [56, 57, 81]. These methods are described in the Chapter 3 of this thesis.

### 5 Simulation Models

Due the high number of non-linear elements present in a MMC the simulation time required when using DMs, which uses extremely accurate models to represent IGBTs, increases rapidly as the number of submodules raise. Likewise, the amount of time taken into the process of creating or modify an simulation schematic is also an enormous drawback when only the overall response is necessary to analyze. The computational effort needed unleashed the use of reduced-order models capable of reproduce with enough accuracy the behavior reposes of switches, controls and the converter itself by using simpler elements or controlled sources [82, 83].

A wide range of AVMs has been developed for different applications and purposes. Whether preserve switching details or neglect them in order to use larger integration time steps, requiring less computational resources resulting in a shorter simulation time [84]. Its use focusing in HVDC systems and VSC topologies can be found in [67, 68, 69, 85].

As example of its use in MMCs simulations, Peralta *et al.* [19] examine the dynamic performance of DM and AVM in a 401-level DSC-MMC. The AVM used showed to be at least 370 times faster than the DM. Although, it has been concluded the DM is preferable to observe high frequencies transients. Other uses can be found in [24, 26, 70] where the model used in [24] promoted a speedup from 250% (simulating 2 submodules per arm) to 31107% (simulating 120 submodules per arm) into the run time using PSCAD software.

Depending on the application, topology, control complexity, transients to be analyzed and desired run time different AVM can be used. Six of them will be presented in descending complexity order.

#### 5.1 Type I: Physics-Based Models [86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92]

The development of these models are based on the mathematical model of an IGBT using differential equations. As example, Strollo [91] presented a model based on non quasi-static BJT model and a short-channel MOSFET model. As other example, Hefner [92] uses a model with variable resistors, variable and saturate capacitors, a BJT and a MOSFET to represent the dynamic behavior of the IGBT.

Despite the high accuracy of these models, they are complex requiring small time steps making its use in MMC simulations inappropriate.

#### 5.2 Type II: Detailed Nonlinear IGBT-Based Model [19]

This model is configured using a controlled switch, two diodes and a RCL snubber circuit as shown in Figure 10(a). In this model, the IGBT turns on when the collector-emitter voltage is greater than the diode forward voltage (Vf) and the gate signal is applied. It turns off when the gate signal is removed or when the collector-emitter voltage is lower than Vf. When the current drives in the opposite direction it passes trough the anti-parallel diode.

Variations in it can be found such as the model used by MatLab/Simulink, Figure 10(b). The IGBT is modeled using a controlled switch, an anti-parallel diode, a resistance (representing the ON-resistance), an inductor, a dc source (representing the IGBT saturation voltage) and a RC snubber circuit. The turn-on and turn-off requirements for this model are the same as described in the previous paragraph.



Figure 10 – Detailed models.

As the model cover all characteristics of an IGBT including: reverse blocking capability, switching events (including in some models the fall time and tail time), conduction losses and block states, this model has been used as reference. As the number of SMs increase the number of switches and diodes to be simulated and small time steps are required to represent the switching pattern. This leads in a high computational effort and its use becomes undesirable. Nevertheless, simulations with a small number of SMs can still use this model. This model is then used especially in simulations that require high accuracy such as the ones used to test circuit protections, where any change on the physical variables (e.g. voltage, current and heat dissipation) needs to be predicated.

#### 5.3 Type III: Simplified IGBT-Based Model

Also known as ideal switch model its molded in the principle that the IGBT works as a ideal switch with a small on-resistance  $R_{ON}$  (in the range of  $m\Omega$ ) and a large off-resistance  $R_{OFF}$ [93]. Although the majority of this models it represents the switching IGBT behavior, the non-linearity caused by the anti-parallel diode is not taken into account. A more realistic model can be found where the switch is replaced by a variable resistor and his value depends on the gate signal, collector-emitter voltage and current direction.

A HBSM using this model is presented in Figure 11(a) where S1 and S2 are the IGBT models. Because of its configuration the simulation model is used for most applications but the ones listed for the Type II.

#### 5.4 Type IV: Thévenin Equivalent Circuit [24, 70]

The SM model is provided by creating a Thévenin equivalent circuit for each MMC SM. The SM capacitor in then replaced by a voltage source in series with a resistance [94]. This substitution results in a model that



Figure 11 – HBSM models.



(c) HBSM using a thévenin equivalent circuit.

requires a small number of operations and accept a longer time step.

Using the trapezoidal discretization method the capacitor submodule C is replaced by a voltage history source  $v_{Ceq}^{h}$  in series with a resistance  $R_{C} = \Delta t/2C$ , where  $\Delta t$  is the time step used in the simulation. Based on the trapezoidal integration method

$$v_{C}(t) = \frac{1}{C} \int_{0}^{t} i_{C}(t) \approx v_{C}(t - \Delta t) + \frac{\Delta t}{2} \frac{i_{C}(t - \Delta t) + i_{C}(t)}{C}$$
(5.1)

therefore

$$v_C(t) = R_C \cdot i_C(t) + v_{Ceq}^h(t - \Delta t)$$
(5.2)

where

$$v_{Ceq}^h(t - \Delta t) = R_C \cdot i_C(t - \Delta t) + v_C(t - \Delta t).$$
(5.3)

Substituting the capacitor in the Type III model results in the representation presented in Figure 11(b). The individual HBSM Thévenin equivalent circuit can be derivative by using

$$v_{SM}(t) = R_{SM}(t)i_{SM}(t) + v_{SM}^{h}(t - \Delta t)$$
(5.4)

where

$$R_{SM}(t) = \frac{R_2(t)(R_1(t) + R_C)}{R_1(t) + R_2(t) + R_C}$$
(5.5)

$$v_{SM}^{h}(t - \Delta t) = v_{Ceq}^{h}(t - \Delta t) \frac{R_2(t)}{R_1(t) + R_2(t) + R_C}$$
(5.6)

and  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  the variable resistances from the Type III IGBT model, resulting on the circuit presented on Figure 11(c).

Since the N SMs in a MMC arm are connected in series and the current  $i_{SM}$  is the same in all the SMs this model provides a way to represent this connection as a Thevinin equivalent where its resistance and voltage are given by

$$R_{arm}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} R_{SM_i}(t)$$
(5.7)

$$v_{arm}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} v_{SM_i}(t) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} R_{SM}(t)\right) i_{SM}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} v_{SM}^h(t - \Delta t).$$
(5.8)

The introduction of this modeling approach allows a simple representation of a MMC with a high number of SMs. Yet, it is necessary record all individual capacitor voltages and each switch state in order to determine the submodule resistance and equivalent voltage. Although the simplification used here this model is used mostly only in software where the solution technique is based on the Thevenin method.

#### 5.5 Type Va: AVMs Based on Switching Functions [19, 95]

Using AVMs, the IGBT is not equivalent represented but the SM behavior is presented using controlled voltage and current sources and diodes. The use of AVMs generally lays on the principle that all SM capacitor voltages are balanced, MMC variables are controlled and harmonics (especially second order) in the circulating current are suppressed. Thus, while using those models the balancing control and circulating current control can be neglected.

Complex AVMs can be used to represent harmonic content of switching events and cover the converter losses. Also the use of AVMs is not restrict to any modulation technique. As some examples of high accuracy AVMs lets consider the model used by PLECS [95] shown in Figure 12. In the model the dc-side (where the capacitors or voltage sources are connected) is the right side of the model while the ac-side (where the SMs are connected in series) is represented by the left part. The inputs are the IGBT gate signals, 0 or 1 representing ON and OFF states respectively. The respective circuit configuration is shown in Figure 13

Using the HBSM AVM, Figure 12, the voltage across the ac-side are dependent of the ac-side current direction, dc-side voltage and IGBTs gate signals. The voltage is either v1 or v2 defined as

$$v1 = (g2 - 1)Vdc (5.9)$$

$$v2 = (g1)Vdc,$$
 (5.10)

where g1 and g2 are the IGBT gate signals in Figure 13(a) and Vdc the voltage at the dc-side terminals. The current at the dc-side is for instance i1 or i2, where

$$i1 = (g2 - 1)I + (5.11)$$

$$i2 = (g1)I -,$$
 (5.12)

with I+ and I- representing the ac-side current. In this model, I+ is different from zero when the current flows from the + terminal to the - terminal and I- is different from zero when the current flows in the opposite direction.

Using the same idea, for the FBSM AVM, the ac-side voltage is either

$$v1 = (g2 + g3 - 1)Vdc \tag{5.13}$$

$$v2 = (g1 + g4 - 1)Vdc, (5.14)$$

where g1, g2, g3 and g4 are the IGBTs gate signals in Figure 13(b). The dc-side current is them one of the following current sources depending on the current direction and the ac-side terminals:

$$i1 = (g2 + g3 - 1)I + \tag{5.15}$$

$$i2 = (g1 + g4 - 1)I - . (5.16)$$



Figure 12 – High accuracy AVM for HBSM and FBSM.



Figure 13 – Equivalent SM configuration.

#### 5.6 Type VIa: Generic AVMs Based on Switching Functions

A simpler representation can be used in order to model a SM by considering the IGBTs as a bidirectional switch. Besides, in order to represent HBSM and FBSM it is necessary to consider the IGBTs in the same leg are complementary. In these circumstances the SM can be represented as shown in Figure 14 where

$$\begin{cases} v = (g)Vdc, \\ i = (g)I, \end{cases}$$
(5.17)

and g is a 'equivalent' gate signal.

In order to represent the HBSM the gate signal is

$$\begin{cases} g = 1 & \text{if } g1 = 1 \text{ and } g2 = 0, \\ g = 0 & \text{if } g1 = 0 \text{ and } g2 = 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

Using FBSM for instance

$$\begin{cases} g = 1 & \text{if } g1 = g4 = 1 \text{ and } g2 = g3 = 0, \\ g = -1 & \text{if } g1 = g4 = 0 \text{ and } sg2 = g3 = 1 \\ g = 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

As these models represents the IGBT as simple switches its use should be considered with precaution and used mainly in the initial design tests.

#### 5.7 Type Vb and Vlb: AVMs Based on Fundamental Frequency [95]

These models use the same circuits as shown in Type Va and VIa models. The main difference is use of IGBTs duty cycles as control signals instead IGBTs gate signals. Thus the modulators, e. g. triangular carrier based PWM, are not required in the simulation. Because the duty cycle generally is accurately generating using large time steps this model can use time steps as large as the inverse of the switching frequency.

As the duty cycle is used, the series connection of N SMs can replaced by a single model with a capacitor  $C_{eq} = C/N$  and a voltage  $v_{eq} = Nv_C$ . Thus, this configuration is preferable in simulation with high switching frequency or high number of SMs. Although it does not present the switching behavior of the SMs, suppressing harmonics in both dc and ac-side. Also the balancing control in this case should be taken into account carefully since the switching behavior was totally removed.



Figure 14 – Equivalent AVM representation for HBSM ans FBSM.

### 6 Performance Study

This chapter will compare the different simulation models in a HB-MMC. The index proposed will evaluate the accuracy of each model compared to a real prototype implemented. Finally the simulation time required will be presented.

#### 6.1 Simulation Index

Along with the fast development of technology used to build new electronic devices such as the MMC or new components e.g., the use of simulation software to predicate different variables in an application, i.e. current, voltage or a control variable have been increasingly adopted. Morgan and Jones [96] presents the main software used in different fields e.g. As another example, Wipke *et al.* [97] demonstrate a simulation of a vehicle performance using ADVISOR. With the intention to simulate a wide range of applications different models of nonlinear elements were developed, such as for a diode [98], an insulated-gate field-effect transistor (IGFET) [99] and a battery [100, 101]. Using these models complex devices like a Photovoltaic (PV) array [102, 103] or a wind turbine [104].

Due the fast implementation of simulation software an index to represent the accuracy of a simulation has not been presented yet, neither for element models, a hardware control representation (i.e. a PI controller or a synchronizing circuit [105] e.g.) nor a complete set-up (a buck converter e.g. [106]). The indexes proposed in this thesis can be used to measure the deviation (positive and negative) between simulation results or between the simulation and experimental results which can be used to compare result from different models.

#### 6.1.1 Index Calculation

As example to show how generate the indexes consider the two signals in Figure 15 where there is a generic reference signal (solid line) and the signal simulated (dotted line).

As can been seen there are moments where the reference signal is greater in amplitude than the simulated signal as there are moments where the reference signal have a lower amplitude. The 'index signal' is then



Figure 15 – Example signal (phase:  $\pi/4$ ).

divided into two parts, the positive difference where the model is greater and the negative difference where the opposite occurs. Then the signals are used to calculate the positive and negative indexes,  $i_p$  and  $i_n$ . By combining the signals the total and the mean indexes,  $i_{total}$  and  $i_{mean}$  can be calculated. To do so the signal's areas are calculated as show in Figure 16, with the reference area described in Figure 15. Finally the four index values are calculated using

$$i_p = \frac{positive \ area}{ref.rem.org} \tag{6.1}$$

$$i_{n} = \frac{negative \ area}{reference \ area}$$
(6.2)

$$i_{total} = \frac{positive\ area + negative\ area}{reference\ area} \tag{6.3}$$

$$i_{mean} = \frac{positive \ area - negative \ area}{reference \ area}.$$
(6.4)



Figure 16 – Difference areas of the signal in Figure 15.

From the example given above it is obtain:

$$\begin{split} i_p &= \frac{0.31089}{2.7531} = 11.2924\% \\ i_n &= \frac{1.9109}{2.7531} = 69.409\% \\ i_{total} &= \frac{0.31089 + 1.9109}{2.7531} = \frac{2.2218}{2.7531} = 80.7018\% \\ i_{mean} &= \frac{0.31089 - 1.9109}{2.7531} = \frac{-1.6}{2.7531} = -58.1163\%, \end{split}$$

which indicates the deviation from the reference.

#### 6.1.2 Comparison

The most used analysis nowadays is the Fast Fourier transform (FFT) which represent a signal in the frequency domain. The FFT for the signal in Figure 15 is presented in Figure 17.

Now if the model signal in Figure 15 was phase shifted by  $-\pi/4$  it would give the same indexes as the signal analyzed before indicating the signals are similar, which is true. However it can not be easily verified using the FFT tool. The FFT of those signal have the same amplitude spectrum but a completely different phase spectrum. The phase spectrum makes it difficult to analyze. This may lead us to conclude that one of the models are wrong, but since we are discussing the model accuracy the models are equally correct (or wrong).

Thus, it can be said the FFT is the best tool to present the frequencies in a signal while a time-based index seems more useful to compare signals. Other advantage is the simplicity of the index calculation since there is no need to use the frequency domain only a matter of area calculation. Other advantage of its use is when a signal with with a high number of frequencies is analyzed, which results in a FFT with a high number of components or when the signals samples are not equal time-spaced making the FFT use impossible.



Figure 17 – FFT of the signals in Figure 15.

#### 6.2 Results

The evaluating topology used is presented in Figure 18. It consists in a HB-MMC using HB-SM connected to a RL load. The model used has 4 SMs per arm with a capacitance C = 6mF, arm inductance l = 1.8mH(the inductor resistance is equal to 300mH). The dc-bus voltage E is 240V, and the PWM frequency is 312Hz. The prototype uses a MOSFET with Fet resistance equals to  $100\text{m}\Omega$  and the anti-parallel diode has a onresistance of  $10\text{m}\Omega$ . The control used is a direct modulation which is a open-loop modulator based on PWM approach [107]. The controller was discretized in  $2 \cdot N \cdot fc$  while the current and voltage measurements where taken using a quantization of 10 bits. With this strategy only the reference voltage is sent to the submodule which in this case is equal to  $E/8(1 + sin(100\pi t))$ . The PWM approach uses phase-shifted triangular waves with correspondent phase-shift as given by Li *et al.* [108] with the objective to reduce harmonics in the output voltage, for this case was used a displacement angle of 90 ° between SMs adjacent in a arm and a displacement angle of 45 ° between same SMs in different arms.

The first test was realized considering a constant load consisting in a resistor R of  $14.2\Omega$  and a inductor L of 1.54mH. The results obtain using different simulation models are presented in Figure 19. The Type V and Type VI are divided into two sub-models which consist in the models of Figure 12 (Type Va and VIa) and Figure 14 (Type Vb and VIb). The index results for each signal compared with the detailed model (Type II) can be found in Table 10 in Appendix B.

The second test was made by changing the resistor on the load from  $36.5\Omega$  to  $18.3\Omega$ , at the dashed line, which elevates the arm currents and consequently the capacitor voltage ripples. Besides the transient can be observable into those results as shown in Figure 20. A zoom has been applied to the arm current in order to expose the transient. The indexes for this simulation are shown in Table 11 in Appendix B.

The simulations are made on a computer with AMD Phenom(tm) II N970 Quad-Core Processor 2.20 GHz, 6,00Gb of RAM memory and a Windows 7 operational system of 64 bits using Simulink on MatLab R2015a. The average required time for each simulation (using normal mode) to represent each second of MMC operation using time steps of 6.26ms is shown in Table 1.

From the results and the indexes presented in the two Tables the reader can verify which model is suitable for its own application. E.g. the Types V and VI does not represent with enough precision the arm currents and because that its use is not recommended for simulate protection techniques or heat dissipation.



Figure 18 – HB-MMC with 4 submodules per arm.

Simulation Model	Time (s)	Percentage (%)
Type II	48.9729	100
Type III	16.1965	33.0724
Type IV	19.4549	39.7259
Type Va	46.5098	94.9706
Type Vb	20.8628	42.6007
Type VIa	29.5278	60.2942
Type VIb	10.5573	21.5574

Table 1 – Required time for simulation of the HB-MMC



Figure 19 – Simulation results with constant load.



Figure 20 – Simulation results with variable load.

### 7 State-Space Representation

#### 7.1 MMC Topology

The study of state-space representation in this section is focused on the DSC-MMC. Figure 21(a) shows the schematic for this topology. The most used submodule topologies are the half-bridge and single-phase full-bridge, whose schematics are shown in Figure 21(b) and 21(c).

Figure 21(a) shows a converter with N submodules connected in cascade per arm (2N submodules per leg). Thus, depending on the topology and the IGBTs switching state the correspondent capacitor is connected to the circuit [27].

The output submodules voltage levels  $(v_o)$  and all switching states considered for both half-bridge (Figure 21(b)) and full-bridge (Figure 21(c)) topologies are listed in Table 2.

As shown in Figure 21(a) the MMC has an arm inductor l in order to protect the components when the converter is turned on (the capacitors are discharged), to protect the components in fault conditions and to decrease arm current oscillations [10, 28]. A resistance r, to simulate losses in the arm, can be connected in series with the arm inductance. Finally, a load (RL) is connected between the arms in each leg.



(a) Multi-phase circuit.



Figure 21 – Circuit schematic of a double-star type multilevel converter.

Topology	Switching states				
Topology	S1	S2	S3	S4	$v_o$
Half bridge	ON	OFF	Х	Х	$v_C$
man-bridge	OFF	ON	Х	Х	0
	ON	OFF	OFF	ON	$v_C$
Full-bridge	OFF	ON	ON	OFF	$-\mathbf{v}_C$
Tun-bridge	ON	OFF	ON	OFF	0
	OFF	ON	OFF	ON	0

Table 2 – Switching submodule states.

The goal of this chapter is to simulate a single-phase and three-phase MMC with half-bridge submodules using state-space representation and comparing the results with a DM model. The same method can be applied to a multi-phase MMC and/or different submodules topologies with minimal changes. The g point (load) is necessary to be connected with the midpoint bus g' for a single-phase MMC and optional for a multi-phase [29].

#### 7.2 MMC Control Method

The control used on this work aims to maintain the submodules capacitor with constant voltage, to control the circulating current  $(i_Z)$  and to switch each submodule to create a desired load voltage. The complete voltage control description for each one of the submodules capacitors is proposed in [28] and can be divided in: averaging control and balancing control.

#### 7.2.1 Averaging control

A block diagram for the averaging control for *u*-phase is shown in Figure 22(a). The outer loop is responsible for controlling the averaging voltage  $\overline{v}_{Cu}$  given by

$$\overline{v}_{Cu} = \frac{1}{2N} \sum_{j=1}^{2N} v_{Cju},$$
(7.1)

where the index j represent the submodule number, with respective capacitor voltage  $v_{Cju}$  and  $v_C^*$  the capacitor voltage set point.

The outer loop gives the reference for the circulating current,  $i_{Zu}^*$  responsible to charge the capacitors connected to the circuit by the submodules. Since  $i_{Zu}$  is a circulating current, impossible to measure, it can be calculated by

$$i_{Zu} = \frac{1}{2} (i_{Pu} + i_{Nu}), \qquad (7.2)$$



Figure 22 – Block diagrams of a MMC control [28].

$$i_u = i_{Pu} - i_{Nu}. (7.3)$$

Continuous mathematical equations for either outer or inner loop are described as:

$$i_{Zu}^{*} = K_1 \left( v_C^{*} - \overline{v}_{Cu} \right) + K_2 \int_0^t \left( v_C^{*} - \overline{v}_{Cu} \right) dt,$$
(7.4)

$$v_{Au}^* = K_3 \left( i_{Zu} - i_{Zu}^* \right) + K_5 \int_0^t \left( i_{Zu} - i_{Zu}^* \right) dt$$
(7.5)

in a time instant t. The MMC and the control are turned on in t = 0. Thus, when  $v_C^* > \overline{v}_{Cu}$ , the reference  $i_{Zu}^*$  increases, and the inner loop results in a command  $v_{Au}^*$  with the objective to charge the capacitors.

#### 7.2.2 Balancing control

Figure 22(b) shows a *u*-phase balancing control for each submodule indicated by the index j. The balancing control is used to select what submodules will be inserted to the circuit. Capacitors with the lowest voltage will be inserted in the circuit when the upper and lower currents ( $i_{Pu}$  and  $i_{Nu}$ ) are positive, for the upper arm and lower arm respectively, charging the capacitors.

Hence, submodules with higher capacitors voltage will be inserted when  $i_{Pu}$  and  $i_{Nu}$  are negative, discharging the capacitors. The use of balancing control is recommended for better voltage control based on the principle described above.

The continuous mathematical expression for balancing control, when j = 1: N is described as

$$v_{Bju}^* = sign(i_{Pu}) K_5 (v_C^* - v_{Cju})$$
(7.6)

while for j = N + 1 : 2N,  $v^*_{Bju}$  is described as

$$v_{Bju}^* = sign(i_{Nu}) K_5 (v_C^* - v_{Cju})$$
(7.7)

where  $sign(\cdot)$  is the signum function.

Finally, the individual reference voltage  $v_{ju}^*$ , for PWM modulation is expressed as:

$$v_{ju}^* = v_{Au}^* + v_{Bju}^* - \frac{v_u^*}{N} + \frac{E}{2N} \quad (j = 1:N)$$
(7.8)

$$v_{ju}^* = v_{Au}^* + v_{Bju}^* + \frac{v_u^*}{N} + \frac{E}{2N} \quad (j = N + 1 : 2N)$$
(7.9)

where  $v_u^*$  is the reference for the load ac-voltage and E the voltage supply.

At this point the voltage command  $v_{ju}^*$  is normalized by its respective capacitor voltage  $v_{Cju}$ , followed by PWM modulation. The carrier wave used in the PWM is a triangular waveform having maximum value of unity and minimal value of zero and frequency  $f_C$ . Each submodule has its own carrier wave but they are lagging of  $360\hat{A}^o/2N$  to each other. This is strongly recommended to reduce the total harmonic influences on the load voltage and to produce a phase-voltage with a total of (2N+1)-level voltage with a frequency of  $2Nf_C$  [28].

#### 7.3 Mathematical Model

#### 7.3.1 State-space equations

Recreating the MMC circuit with state-space equations we will first consider a single-phase MMC constituted by 2 submodules per arm and a resistance r in series with the inductor l. The IGBTs for this model will be substituted by switches since it is not the objective of this thesis verify the effects of them in the circuit.

Firstly, the circuit within all the submodules inserted (Figure 23(a)) is considered. From this circuit, the capacitors voltage variations are described as:

$$\frac{dv_{C1u}}{dt} = \frac{dv_{C2u}}{dt} = \frac{i_{Pu}}{C}$$
(7.10)

$$\frac{dv_{C3u}}{dt} = \frac{dv_{C4u}}{dt} = \frac{i_{Nu}}{C} \tag{7.11}$$

where C is the submodule capacitor. From Kirchhoff's voltage law we obtain:

$$\frac{E}{2} - v_{C1u} - v_{C2u} - ri_{Pu} - l\frac{di_{Pu}}{dt} - Ri_u - L\frac{di_u}{dt} = 0$$
(7.12)

$$\frac{E}{2} + Ri_u + L\frac{di_u}{dt} - ri_{Nu} - l\frac{di_{Nu}}{dt} - v_{C3u} - v_{C4u} = 0.$$
(7.13)

Substituting  $i_u$  from (7.3) in (7.12) and (7.13), we have

$$L\frac{di_{Nu}}{dt} = (L+l)\frac{di_{Pu}}{dt} + v_{C1u} + v_{C2u} + (R+r)i_{Pu} - Ri_{Nu} - E/2$$
(7.14)

$$L\frac{di_{Pu}}{dt} = (L+l)\frac{di_{Nu}}{dt} + v_{C3u} + v_{C4u} - Ri_{Pu} + (R+r)i_{Nu} - E/2.$$
(7.15)

Solving the system given by (7.14) and (7.15) for  $\frac{di_{Pu}}{dt}$  and  $\frac{di_{Nu}}{dt}$ , results in

$$\frac{di_{Pu}}{dt} = \frac{-(L+l)\left(v_{C1u}+v_{C2u}\right) - L\left(v_{C3u}+v_{C4u}\right) - [r\left(L+l\right)+Rl]i_{Pu} + (Rl-rL)i_{Nu} + (2L+l)E/2}{2Ll+l^2} (7.16)$$

$$\frac{di_{Nu}}{dt} = \frac{-L\left(v_{C1u}+v_{C2u}\right) - (L+l)\left(v_{C3u}+v_{C4u}\right) + (Rl-rL)i_{Pu} - [r\left(L+l\right)+Rl]i_{Nu} + (2L+l)E/2}{2Ll+l^2} (7.17)$$



Figure 23 – Equivalent circuits for different submodules inserted.

Using (7.10), (7.11), (7.16) and (7.17) the state-space continuous representation can be described in terms of

$$\dot{X} = AX + BU \tag{7.18}$$

where

$$U = [E] \tag{7.19}$$

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} v_{C1u} & v_{C2u} & v_{C3u} & v_{C4u} & i_{Pu} & i_{Nu} \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$
(7.20)  
$$B \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & F(0) & F(0) \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$
(7.21)

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & E/2l & E/2l \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.21)  
$$A = \frac{1}{2Ll+l^2} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & (2Ll+l^2)/C & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & (2Ll+l^2)/C & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & (2Ll+l^2)/C \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & (2Ll+l^2)/C \\ -(L+l) & -(L+l) & -L & -L & -[r(L+l)+Rl] & Rl-rL \\ -L & -L & -(L+l) & -(L+l) & Rl-rL & -[r(L+l)+Rl] \end{bmatrix} .$$
(7.22)

With all capacitors out of the circuit (Figure 23(b)), the right part of (7.10) and (7.11) are equal to zero since there is no current flowing through the capacitors. Using the same method as before for (7.12) and (7.13) we will obtain the same equations but without the capacitors voltages. Thus, in this case (7.16) and (7.17) do not have the capacitors voltages leading to rewrite A in (7.22) as

In this case the circuit and the capacitors are represented by (7.18), (7.19), (7.20), (7.21) and (7.23).

At this point it is developed by a simple association a state-space continuous representation for a MMC with a total of N submodules per arm. Comparing (7.22) and (7.23) it is possible to see the term that multiples the current through the capacitors in the capacitor voltages variations (lines 1 to 4) are 1/C when connected to the circuit and zero when disconnected. Also, the terms that multiply the capacitors voltages in the current variations (lines 5 and 6) are either  $-(L+l)/(2Ll+l^2)$  or  $-L/(2Ll+l^2)$  when the capacitor is connected to the circuit and zero when disconnected.

Hence, using

$$z_j = \begin{cases} 1, \ C_j \ is \ connected \\ 0, \ C_j \ is \ disconnected \end{cases}, (7.24)$$

the state-space continuous representation for both 3 and none capacitors connected can be expended to N

submodules per arm and any number of capacitors connected by (7.18), (7.19), and:

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} v_{C1u} & v_{C2u} & \cdots & v_{C2Nu} & i_{Pu} & i_{Nu} \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & E/2l & E/2l \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$
(7.25)
(7.26)

$$A = \frac{1}{2Ll+l^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & z_{1} (2Ll+l^{2})/C & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & z_{N} (2Ll+l^{2})/C & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & z_{N+1} (2Ll+l^{2})/C \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & z_{2N} (2Ll+l^{2})/C \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & z_{2N} (2Ll+l^{2})/C \\ -z_{1}(L+l) & \cdots & -z_{N}(L+l) & -z_{N+1}L & \cdots & -z_{2N}L & -[r(L+l)+Rl] & Rl-rL \\ -z_{1}L & \cdots & -z_{N}L & -z_{N+1}(L+l) & \cdots & -z_{2N}(L+l) & Rl-rL & -[r(L+l)+Rl] \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.27)

For the purpose of using this equation in mathematical software it is required a state-space discrete representation, such as

$$x[k+1] = ax[k] + bu[k]$$
(7.28)

for each iteration k. x[k] and u[k] are the values of X and U in the iteration k and:

$$a = \Delta T A + I \tag{7.29}$$

$$b = \Delta T B \tag{7.30}$$

where  $\Delta T$  is the timestep used between each iteration and I an identity matrix with the same dimension as A.

Since the matrix A depends on the capacitors connected to the circuit z and it can change based on the control result, the matrix a can also change at each iteration and need to be recalculated

Each phase of a three-phase MMC with the g point interconnected with the g' point can be represented with the same state-space representation as described above.

#### 7.3.2 MMC control

To control the MMC in a discrete state, (7.1)-(7.9) are also discretized. The discretization of an integral w(t), such as the ones used in (7.4) and (7.5) can be defined as

$$r(t) = \int_0^t w(t)dt \cong r[k+1] = r[k] + \Delta T w[k]$$
(7.31)

when the instant t is equal to a integer multiple of  $\Delta T$  and r[1] (first iteration) is zero. The normalized reference voltage  $v_{ju}^*[k]$  is used now to connect or disconnect the capacitor by

$$z_{j}[k] = \begin{cases} 1, & v_{ju}^{*}[k] \ge cw_{j}[k] \\ 0, & v_{ju}^{*}[k] < cw_{j}[k] \end{cases}$$
(7.32)

where  $cw_j$  is the PWM carrier wave for each submodule.

#### 7.4 Results

The AVM proposed on this thesis was simulated with different MMC configurations to be compared with the DM. Both models are simulated using an incremental time of  $100\mu$ s and a sinusoidal wave with rms value

of  $V_o$  as the reference load voltage  $v_u^*$ , using the software MATLab/Simulink. The performance analysis on three different MMC simulated is shown in the next sections.

#### 7.4.1 Single-phase MMC with 4 submodules

Table 3 and Table 4 show the circuit parameters and control gains used for the simulation of a single-phase MMC with a total of 4 submodules (2N) under steady state conditions [28].

Figure24 shows the simulated waveforms for both DM and AVM. As can be seen in Figure24 the waveforms from the state-space representation reproduce correctly the MMC behavior comparing to the DM model. There is a difference between the models in the capacitor voltage (Figure24(f)) but it is at the range of 2V or 2.9% of the capacitor voltage set point (70V).

The other waveforms however present just a small difference between the models. Those divergences can be explained by the switching losses due the IGBTs presents in the DM model or even the solver method used.

#### 7.4.2 Single-phase MMC with 8 submodules

Table 5 and Table 6 show the circuit parameters and control gains used for the simulation of a single-phase MMC with a total of 8 submodules (2N) under steady state conditions [28].

The load rms voltage  $V_o$  for this simulation was changed from 3.18 kV to 1.27 kV at 495 ms in aim to study the AVM transient behavior.

Figure 25 shows the simulated waveforms for the AVM and DM as showed for the single-phase MMC with 4 submodules. The AVM simulated reproduces correctly the MMC behavior under both normal and transient operation. The most visible difference is at the capacitor voltage (Figure 25(d)), but at the range of 10 V which represents only 0.44% of the capacitor voltage set point  $(V_C)$ . The load current (Figure 25(c)) waveforms are overlapped.

DC supply voltage	E	140 V
Rated rms voltage	V <sub>o</sub>	50 V
Rated frequency	f	50  Hz
Submodule capacitance	C	$3 \mathrm{mF}$
Capacitor voltage	Vc	70 V
Arm resistance	r	$100 \text{ m}\Omega$
Arm inductance	l	1 mH
Load resistance	R	10 Ω
Load inductance	L	2  mH
Power factor	$\cos \phi$	$0.9$ at $50 \mathrm{Hz}$
Carrier frequency	$f_C$	8 kHz
Equivalent switching frequency	$4f_C$	32 kHz

Table 3 – Circuit Parameters Used for Simulation.

Table 4 – Control Gains Used for Simulation.

Proportional gain of averaging control	$K_1$	$0.5 \mathrm{A/V}$
Integral gain of averaging control	$K_2$	$80 \text{ A/(V \cdot s)}$
Proportional gain of current control	$K_3$	1 A/V
Integral gain of current control	$K_4$	$640 \text{ A/(V \cdot s)}$
Proportional gain of balancing control	$K_5$	0.5



Figure 24 – Simulated waveforms for a single-phase MMC with 4 submodules.

DC supply voltage	E	9 kV
Rated frequency	f	50 Hz
Submodule capacitance	C	$1.9 \mathrm{mF}$
Capacitor voltage	Vc	2.25  kV
Arm resistance	r	$100 \text{ m}\Omega$
Arm inductance	l	3  mH
Load resistance	R	$30 \ \Omega$
Load inductance	L	6  mH
Power factor	$\cos \phi$	0.9  at  50 Hz
Carrier frequency	$f_C$	2 kHz
Equivalent switching frequency	$8f_C$	16 kHz

Table 6 - Control Gains Used for Simulation.

Proportional gain of averaging control	$K_1$	$0.5 \mathrm{A/V}$
Integral gain of averaging control	$K_2$	$150 \text{ A/(V \cdot s)}$
Proportional gain of current control	$K_3$	$1.5 \mathrm{A/V}$
Integral gain of current control	$K_4$	$150 \text{ A/(V \cdot s)}$
Proportional gain of balancing control	$K_5$	0.35

#### 7.4.3 Three-phase MMC with 8 submodules per arm

Figure 26 shows the simulated waveforms for the AVM and DM of a three-phase MMC with 8 submodules per leg and the g and g' point (Figure 21) interconnected. The phase to ground circuit parameters used for this simulation is described in Table 5. Table 6 shows the control gains used. The phase to ground load rms voltage  $V_o$  was 3.18 kV. At 500 ms a load with resistance of 30  $\Omega$  and inductance of 6 mH was connected in parallel to the previous load.

Figure 26(c) and 26(d) show the active and reactive power required by the three-phase load. The red and yellow curves represent the power required by the MMC load connected to a three-phase voltage source with phase to ground rms voltage of  $V_o$ . The DM model is showed again to be accurate to represent the MMC even at the transient states as can be seen on Figure 26(c) and 26(d). The deviation on the capacitor voltage now is at maximum value of 4V representing 0.17% of the capacitor voltage set point.

#### 7.4.4 Processing time

Computing time for each simulated models described in the sections above were measured for a 1 s simulation time. The simulations were performed on a computer with 2.3 GHz Intel Core i5-2410M processor, 6 GB of RAM and 64 bits system. Table 7 shows the averaging processing time required for each model. The results show that the AVM developed requires between 32.8% and 71.4% the processing time required to simulate the DM.

MMC	AVM	DM
Single-phase with 4 submodules	$15.39 \mathrm{~s}$	33.19 s
Single-phase with 8 submodules	$16.28 \mathrm{~s}$	49.61 s
Three-phase with 8 submodules	$95.35~\mathrm{s}$	133.61 s

Table 7 – Processing time required.



Figure 25 – Simulated waveforms for a single-phase MMC with 8 submodules.



(a) Load voltage and reference from the AVM.



(b) Load voltage and reference from the DM.



(c) Active and reactive load power from the AVM.







<sup>(</sup>f) Current load for one phase.

Figure 26 – Simulated waveforms for a three-phase MMC with 8 submodules per arm

## 8 Conclusion

The MMC has being the subject of several studies which provided great improvements into HVDC applications. These improvements are leading the MMC to achieved any voltage requirements for a widely range of applications. Thus, new MMC and SM topologies, control and even simulation techniques are being developed to maximize the efficiency of the MMC in each application.

In order to provide an MMC overview this thesis has shown some of the most used MMC designs, including SM topologies. Components sizing were covered along with respective goals: such as the limitation of the energy and voltage ripples in the SM capacitor, and arm inductor sizing to suppress current ripples, current rise and high frequency components of arm currents. MMC and SM protection circuits, with the objective to secure the MMC components under fault conditions, are also carried out. Nevertheless, the use of filters to improve the MMC output quality was approached.

The most used control techniques were covered including current and voltage control and the balancing control used in this converter topology to keep the capacitors in each submodule with the same voltage. The different simulation modules are presented and discussed its use for different proposes. An index was proposed in order to evaluate the accuracy of each simulation model and a performance study was presented.

Even though some of the most used MMC design and sizing have being covered here, specific applications may require different topologies or sizing methods from those discussed in this thesis. The reader is then encouraged to seek different and new MMC studies to fulfill their requirements.

From the second part of this work, it was demonstrated the principles to create a state-space representation of single and three-phase MMC with 2N submodules per leg. Advantages and disadvantages of use an AVM besides a DM were presented and discussed. The results and the processing time required for each model were compared for accuracy.

The presented model is useful to researches and engineers who are using simulation tools to study the MMC control.

### Bibliography

- BOSE, B. K. Global energy scenario and impact of power electronics in 21st century. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 60, n. 7, p. 2638–2651, jul 2013. ISSN 0278-0046. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2012.2203771">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2012.2203771</a>).
- [2] DAVIDSON, C. C.; PREVILLE, G. de. The future of high power electronics in transmission and distribution power systems. In: *Power Electronics and Applications, 2009. EPE '09. 13th European Conference on.* Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2009. p. 1–14. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/epe.2007.4417789">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/epe.2007.4417789</a>>.
- [3] ANDERSEN, B. R.; XU, L.; WONG, K. T. G. Topologies for vsc transmission. In: AC-DC Power Transmission, 2001. Seventh International Conference on (Conf. Publ. No. 485). Institution of Engineering and Technology (IET), 2001. p. 298–304. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/cp:20010559">http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/cp:20010559</a>>.
- [4] SINGH, B.; PANIGRAHI, B. K.; MOHAN, D. M. Voltage regulation and power flow control of vsc based hvdc system. In: *Power Electronics, Drives and Energy Systems, 2006. PEDES '06. International Conference on.* Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2006. p. 1–6. Available from Internet: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PEDES.2006.344330>.
- [5] PANG, H.; TANG, G.; HE, Z. Evaluation of losses in vsc-hvdc transmission system. In: Power and Energy Society General Meeting - Conversion and Delivery of Electrical Energy in the 21st Century, 2008 IEEE. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2008. p. 1–6. ISSN 1932-5517. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PES.2008.4596740">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PES.2008.4596740</a>>.
- [6] FLOURENTZOU, N.; AGELIDIS, V. G.; DEMETRIADES, G. D. Vsc-based hvdc power transmission systems: An overview. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 24, n. 3, p. 592–602, mar 2009. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2008.2008441">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2008.2008441</a>>.
- [7] HOLTZ, J. Pulsewidth modulation for electronic power conversion. Proceedings of the IEEE, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 82, n. 8, p. 1194–1214, aug 1994. ISSN 0018-9219. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/5.301684">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/5.301684</a>>.
- [8] LINDBERG, A.; LARSSON, T. Pwm and control of three level voltage source converters in an hvdc back-to-back station. In: AC and DC Power Transmission, Sixth International Conference on (Conf. Publ. No. 423). Institution of Engineering and Technology (IET), 1996. p. 297–302. ISSN 0537-9989. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/cp:19960374">http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/cp:19960374</a>>.
- [9] GEMMELL, B. et al. Prospects of multilevel vsc technologies for power transmission. In: 2008 IEEE/PES Transmission and Distribution Conference and Exposition. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2008. p. 1–16. ISSN 2160-8555. Available from Internet: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TDC.2008.4517192>.
- [10] LESNICAR, A.; MARQUARDT, R. An innovative modular multilevel converter topology suitable for a wide power range. In: *Power Tech Conference Proceedings, 2003 IEEE Bologna*. Institute of

Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2003. v. 3, p. 6 pp. Vol.3–. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PTC.2003.1304403">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PTC.2003.1304403</a>>.

- [11] MARQUARDT, R. Modular multilevel converter: An universal concept for hvdc-networks and extended dc-bus-applications. In: *Power Electronics Conference (IPEC)*, 2010 International. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2010. p. 502–507. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IPEC.2010.5544594">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IPEC.2010.5544594</a>>.
- [12] SAEEDIFARD, M.; IRAVANI, R. Dynamic performance of a modular multilevel back-to-back hvdc system. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 25, n. 4, p. 2903–2912, oct 2010. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2010.2050787">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2010.2050787</a>>.
- [13] DING, G. et al. New technologies of voltage source converter (vsc) for hvdc transmission system based on vsc. In: Power and Energy Society General Meeting - Conversion and Delivery of Electrical Energy in the 21st Century, 2008 IEEE. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2008. p. 1–8. ISSN 1932-5517. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PES.2008.4596399">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PES.2008.4596399</a>>.
- [14] SON, G. T. et al. Design and control of a modular multilevel hvdc converter with redundant power modules for noninterruptible energy transfer. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 27, n. 3, p. 1611–1619, jul 2012. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2012.2190530">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2012.2190530</a>>.
- [15] AHMED, N. et al. Hvdc supergrids with modular multilevel converters the power transmission backbone of the future. In: Systems, Signals and Devices (SSD), 2012 9th International Multi-Conference on. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2012. p. 1–7. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ssd.2012.6198119">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ssd.2012.6198119</a>>.
- [16] FRIEDRICH, K. Modern hvdc plus application of vsc in modular multilevel converter topology. In: 2010 IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2010. p. 3807–3810. ISSN 2163-5137. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ISIE.2010.5637505">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ISIE.2010.5637505</a>>.
- [17] GLASDAM, J. et al. Review on multi-level voltage source converter based hvdc technologies for grid connection of large offshore wind farms. In: *Power System Technology (POWERCON), 2012 IEEE International Conference on.* Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2012. p. 1–6. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PowerCon.2012.6401377">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PowerCon.2012.6401377</a>>.
- [18] AKAGI, H. Classification, terminology, and application of the modular multilevel cascade converter (mmcc). *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 26, n. 11, p. 3119–3130, nov 2011. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2011.2143431">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2011.2143431</a>>.
- [19] PERALTA, J. et al. Detailed and averaged models for a 401-level mmc-hvdc system. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 27, n. 3, p. 1501–1508, jul 2012. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2012.2188911">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2012.2188911</a>>.
- [20] ALLEBROD, S.; HAMERSKI, R.; MARQUARDT, R. New transformerless, scalable modular multilevel converters for hvdc-transmission. In: 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference.

Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2008. p. 174–179. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/pesc.2008.4591920">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/pesc.2008.4591920</a>>.

- [21] PEFTITSIS, D. et al. High-power modular multilevel converters with sic jfets. In: 2010 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2010. p. 2148–2155. ISSN 2329-3721. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ECCE.2010.5618274">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ECCE.2010.5618274</a>>.
- [22] DEBNATH, S. et al. Operation, control, and applications of the modular multilevel converter: A review. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 30, n. 1, p. 37–53, jan 2015. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2309937">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2309937</a>>.
- [23] KREIN, P. T. et al. On the use of averaging for the analysis of power electronic systems. In: *Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 1989. PESC '89 Record., 20th Annual IEEE. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 1989. p. 463–467 vol.1. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.1989.48523">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.1989.48523</a>>.
- [24] GNANARATHNA, U. N.; GOLE, A. M.; JAYASINGHE, R. P. Efficient modeling of modular multilevel hvdc converters (mmc) on electromagnetic transient simulation programs. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 26, n. 1, p. 316–324, jan 2011. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2010.2060737">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2010.2060737</a>>.
- [25] SAAD, H. et al. Dynamic averaged and simplified models for mmc-based hvdc transmission systems. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 28, n. 3, p. 1723–1730, jul 2013. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2013.2251912">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2013.2251912</a>>.
- [26] TEEUWSEN, S. P. Simplified dynamic model of a voltage-sourced converter with modular multilevel converter design. In: *Power Systems Conference and Exposition, 2009. PSCE '09. IEEE/PES.* Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2009. p. 1–6. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PSCE.2009.4839922">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PSCE.2009.4839922</a>>.
- [27] XU, J. et al. Accelerated model of modular multilevel converters in pscad/emtdc. In: 2013 IEEE Power Energy Society General Meeting. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2013. p. 1–1. ISSN 1932-5517. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESMG.2013.6672313">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESMG.2013.6672313</a>>.
- [28] HAGIWARA, M.; AKAGI, H. Control and experiment of pulsewidth-modulated modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 24, n. 7, p. 1737–1746, jul 2009. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2009.2014236">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2009.2014236</a>>.
- [29] HARNEFORS, L. et al. Dynamic analysis of modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 60, n. 7, p. 2526–2537, jul 2013. ISSN 0278-0046. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2012.2194974">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2012.2194974</a>>.
- [30] VASILADIOTIS, M. Modular Multilevel Converters with Integrated Split Battery Energy Storage. Thesis (Phd) — École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, 2004.

- [31] WAN, Y.; LIU, S.; JIANG, J. Generalised analytical methods and current-energy control design for modular multilevel cascade converter. *IET Power Electronics*, Institution of Engineering and Technology (IET), v. 6, n. 3, p. 495–504, mar 2013. ISSN 1755-4535. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/ietpel.2012.0494">http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/ietpel.2012.0494</a>>.
- [32] DU, S.; LIU, J. A brief comparison of series-connected modular topology in statcom application. In: *ECCE Asia Downunder (ECCE Asia), 2013 IEEE.* Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2013. p. 456–460. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ECCE-Asia.2013.6579136">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ECCE-Asia.2013.6579136</a>>.
- [33] HAGIWARA, M.; MAEDA, R.; AKAGI, H. Negative-sequence reactive-power control by a pwm statcom based on a modular multilevel cascade converter (mmcc-sdbc). In: 2011 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2011. p. 3728–3735. ISSN 2329-3721. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ECCE.2011.6064275">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ECCE.2011.6064275</a>>.
- [34] ILVES, K.; BESSEGATO, L.; NORRGA, S. Comparison of cascaded multilevel converter topologies for ac/ac conversion. In: 2014 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Hiroshima 2014 - ECCE ASIA). Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2014. p. 1087–1094. ISSN 2150-6078. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IPEC.2014.6869722">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IPEC.2014.6869722</a>>.
- [35] PIROUZ, H. M.; BINA, M. T. New transformerless statcom topology for compensating unbalanced medium-voltage loads. In: *Power Electronics and Applications*, 2009. EPE '09. 13th European Conference on. [S.l.: s.n.], 2009. p. 1–9.
- [36] PIROUZ, H. M.; BINA, M. T. Modular multilevel converter based statcom topology suitable for mediumvoltage unbalanced systems. *Journal of Power Electronics*, The Korean Institute of Power Electronics, v. 10, n. 5, p. 572–578, sep 2010. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.6113/jpe.2010.10.5.572">http://dx.doi.org/10.6113/jpe.2010.10.5.572</a>>.
- [37] P., H. M.; BINA, M. T. A transformerless medium-voltage statcom topology based on extended modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 26, n. 5, p. 1534–1545, may 2011. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2010.2085088">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2010.2085088</a>>.
- [38] BEHROUZIAN, E.; BONGIORNO, M.; PARRA, H. Z. D. L. An overview of multilevel converter topologies for grid connected applications. In: *Power Electronics and Applications (EPE), 2013 15th European Conference on.* Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2013. p. 1–10. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6634634">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6634634</a>>.
- [39] QIN, J. et al. Hybrid design of modular multilevel converters for hvdc systems based on various submodule circuits. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 30, n. 1, p. 385–394, feb 2015. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2014.2351794">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2014.2351794</a>>.
- [40] SOLAS, E. et al. Modular multilevel converter with different submodule concepts part i: Capacitor voltage balancing method. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 60, n. 10, p. 4525–4535, oct 2013. ISSN 0278-0046. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2012.2210378">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2012.2210378</a>>.
- [41] SOLAS, E. et al. Modular multilevel converter with different submodule concepts- part ii: Experimental validation and comparison for hvdc application. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, Institute of

Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 60, n. 10, p. 4536–4545, oct 2013. ISSN 0278-0046. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2012.2211431">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2012.2211431</a>.

- [42] NAMI, A. et al. Five level cross connected cell for cascaded converters. In: Power Electronics and Applications (EPE), 2013 15th European Conference on. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2013. p. 1–9. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6631941">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6631941</a>>.
- [43] ADAM, G. P.; AHMED, K. H.; WILLIAMS, B. W. Mixed cells modular multilevel converter. In: 2014 IEEE 23rd International Symposium on Industrial Electronics (ISIE). Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2014. p. 1390–1395. ISSN 2163-5137. Available from Internet: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ISIE.2014.6864817>.
- [44] ZENG, R. et al. Design and operation of a hybrid modular multilevel converter. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 30, n. 3, p. 1137–1146, mar 2015. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2320822">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2320822</a>>.
- [45] DARGAHI, V. et al. A new family of modular multilevel converter based on modified flyingcapacitor multicell converters. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 30, n. 1, p. 138–147, jan 2015. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2304964">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2304964</a>>.
- [46] GOETZ, S. M.; PETERCHEV, A. V.; WEYH, T. Modular multilevel converter with series and parallel module connectivity: Topology and control. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 30, n. 1, p. 203–215, jan 2015. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2310225">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2310225</a>>.
- [47] KOLB, J.; KAMMERER, F.; BRAUN, M. Dimensioning and design of a modular multilevel converter for drive applications. In: *Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC)*, 2012 15th *International*. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2012. p. LS1a–1.1–1–LS1a–1.1–8. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPEPEMC.2012.6397380">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPEPEMC.2012.6397380</a>>.
- [48] ILVES, K. et al. On energy storage requirements in modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 29, n. 1, p. 77–88, jan 2014. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2013.2254129">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2013.2254129</a>>.
- [49] ZYGMANOWSKI, M.; GRZESIK, B.; NALEPA, R. Capacitance and inductance selection of the modular multilevel converter. In: *Power Electronics and Applications (EPE)*, 2013 15th European Conference on. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2013. p. 1–10. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6634446">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6634446</a>>.
- [50] CUNICO, L. M. et al. Parameters design for modular multilevel converter (mmc). In: 2013 Brazilian Power Electronics Conference. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2013. p. 264–270. ISSN 2165-0454. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/COBEP.2013.6785126">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/COBEP.2013.6785126</a>>.
- [51] TU, Q. et al. Parameter design principle of the arm inductor in modular multilevel converter based hvdc. In: *Power System Technology (POWERCON), 2010 International Conference* on. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2010. p. 1–6. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/POWERCON.2010.5666416">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/POWERCON.2010.5666416</a>>.

- [52] SZTYKIEL, M. et al. Modular multilevel converter modelling, control and analysis under grid frequency deviations. In: *Power Electronics and Applications (EPE)*, 2013 15th European Conference on. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2013. p. 1–11. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6634747">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6634747</a>>.
- [53] MERLIN, M. M. C. et al. Cell capacitor sizing in modular multilevel converters and hybrid topologies. In: Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'14-ECCE Europe), 2014 16th European Conference on. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2014. p. 1–10. Available from Internet: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2014.6910972>.
- [54] HILLERS, A.; BIELA, J. Optimal design of the modular multilevel converter for an energy storage system based on split batteries. In: *Power Electronics and Applications (EPE), 2013 15th European Conference on.* Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2013. p. 1–11. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6634660">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPE.2013.6634660</a>>.
- [55] HäFNER, J.; JACOBSON, B. Proactive hybrid hvdc breakers a key innovation for reliable hvdc grids. Proc. of Cigré Bologna, Paper, v. 264, p. 13–15, set. 2011.
- [56] ILVES, K. et al. Analysis of arm current harmonics in modular multilevel converters with maincircuit filters. In: Systems, Signals and Devices (SSD), 2012 9th International Multi-Conference on. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2012. p. 1–6. Available from Internet: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/SSD.2012.6197915>.
- [57] JACOBSON, B. et al. Vsc-hvdc transmission with cascaded two-level converters. In: *Cigré session*. [S.I.: s.n.], 2010. p. 1–8.
- [58] KOLB, J. et al. The modular multilevel converter as universal high-precision 3ac voltage source for power hardware-in-the-loop systems. In: PCIM Europe 2014; International Exhibition and Conference for Power Electronics, Intelligent Motion, Renewable Energy and Energy Management; Proceedings of. [S.1.: s.n.], 2014. p. 1–8.
- [59] AKAGI, H.; KANAZAWA, Y.; NABAE, A. Instantaneous reactive power compensators comprising switching devices without energy storage components. *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), IA-20, n. 3, p. 625–630, may 1984. ISSN 0093-9994. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIA.1984.4504460">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIA.1984.4504460</a>>.
- [60] LINDBERG, A. PWM and control of two and three level high power voltage source converters. [S.l.]: Royal Institute of Technology, 1995.
- [61] RUIHUA, S. et al. Vscs based hvdc and its control strategy. In: 2005 IEEE/PES Transmission Distribution Conference Exposition: Asia and Pacific. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2005. p. 1–6. ISSN 2160-8636. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TDC.2005.1546800">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TDC.2005.1546800</a>>.
- [62] YAZDANI, A.; IRAVANI, R. A generalized state-space averaged model of the three-level npc converter for systematic dc-voltage-balancer and current-controller design. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 20, n. 2, p. 1105–1114, apr 2005. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2004.834307">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2004.834307</a>>.

- [63] MAHARJAN, L.; YAMAGISHI, T.; AKAGI, H. Active-power control of individual converter cells for a battery energy storage system based on a multilevel cascade pwm converter. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 27, n. 3, p. 1099–1107, mar 2012. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2010.2059045">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2010.2059045</a>>.
- [64] AKAGI, H.; INOUE, S.; YOSHII, T. Control and performance of a transformerless cascade pwm statcom with star configuration. *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 43, n. 4, p. 1041–1049, jul 2007. ISSN 0093-9994. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIA.2007.900487">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIA.2007.900487</a>>.
- [65] MAHARJAN, L.; INOUE, S.; AKAGI, H. A transformerless energy storage system based on a cascade multilevel pwm converter with star configuration. *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 44, n. 5, p. 1621–1630, sep 2008. ISSN 0093-9994. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIA.2008.2002180">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIA.2008.2002180</a>>.
- [66] BERGNA, G.; BOYRA, M.; VIVAS, J. H. Evaluation and proposal of mmc-hvdc control strategies under transient and steady state conditions. In: *Power Electronics and Applications (EPE 2011), Proceedings of* the 2011-14th European Conference on. [S.l.: s.n.], 2011. p. 1–10.
- [67] OUQUELLE, H.; DESSAINT, L. A.; CASORIA, S. An average value model-based design of a deadbeat controller for vsc-hvdc transmission link. In: 2009 IEEE Power Energy Society General Meeting. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2009. p. 1–6. ISSN 1932-5517. Available from Internet: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PES.2009.5275748>.
- [68] YAZDANI, A.; IRAVANI, R. Dynamic model and control of the npc-based back-to-back hvdc system. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 21, n. 1, p. 414–424, Jan 2006. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2005.852344">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2005.852344</a>>.
- [69] PERALTA, J. et al. Dynamic performance of average-value models for multi-terminal vschvdc systems. In: 2012 IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2012. p. 1–8. ISSN 1932-5517. Available from Internet: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESGM.2012.6345610>.
- [70] LE-HUY, P.; GIROUX, P.; SOUMAGNE, J. Real-time simulation of modular multilevel converters for network integration studies. In: *International Conference on Power Systems Transients, Delft, Netherlands* June. [S.l.: s.n.], 2011. p. 14–17.
- [71] PENG, F. Z.; WANG, J. A universal statcom with delta-connected cascade multilevel inverter. In: *Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 2004. PESC 04. 2004 IEEE 35th Annual. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2004. v. 5, p. 3529–3533 Vol.5. ISSN 0275-9306. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.2004.1355099">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.2004.1355099</a>>.
- [72] FUJII, K.; DONCKER, R. W. D. A novel dc-link voltage control of pwm-switched cascade cell multi-level inverter applied to statcom. In: *Fourtieth IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2005 Industry Applications Conference, 2005.* Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2005. v. 2, p. 961– 967 Vol. 2. ISSN 0197-2618. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IAS.2005.1518465">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IAS.2005.1518465</a>>.

- [73] GLINKA, M.; MARQUARDT, R. A new ac/ac multilevel converter family. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 52, n. 3, p. 662–669, jun 2005. ISSN 0278-0046. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2005.843973">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2005.843973</a>>.
- [74] ROHNER, S. et al. Modulation, losses, and semiconductor requirements of modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 57, n. 8, p. 2633–2642, aug 2010. ISSN 0278-0046. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2009.2031187">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2009.2031187</a>>.
- [75] SOLAS, E. et al. Modulation of modular multilevel converter for hvdc application. In: Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC), 2010 14th International. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2010. p. T2-84-T2-89. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPEPEMC.2010.5606876">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/EPEPEMC.2010.5606876</a>>.
- [76] TU, Q.; XU, Z.; XU, L. Reduced switching-frequency modulation and circulating current suppression for modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 26, n. 3, p. 2009–2017, jul 2011. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2011.2115258">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2011.2115258</a>>.
- [77] HAGIWARA, M.; AKAGI, H. Pwm control and experiment of modular multilevel converters. In: 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2008. p. 154–161. ISSN 0275-9306. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.2008.4591917">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.2008.4591917</a>>.
- [78] HAGIWARA, M.; NISHIMURA, K.; AKAGI, H. A medium-voltage motor drive with a modular multilevel pwm inverter. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 25, n. 7, p. 1786–1799, jul 2010. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2010.2042303">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2010.2042303</a>>.
- [79] ANTONOPOULOS, A.; ANGQUIST, L.; NEE, H. P. On dynamics and voltage control of the modular multilevel converter. In: *Power Electronics and Applications, 2009. EPE '09. 13th European Conference* on. [S.l.: s.n.], 2009. p. 1–10.
- [80] TU, Q.; XU, Z.; ZHANG, J. Circulating current suppressing controller in modular multilevel converter. In: *IECON 2010 - 36th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2010. p. 3198–3202. ISSN 1553-572X. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IECON.2010.5675048">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IECON.2010.5675048</a>>.
- [81] HARNEFORS, L.; JACOBSON, B. Power converter with multi-level voltage output and harmonics filter. Google Patents, oct 2013. US Patent 8,553,435. Available from Internet: <a href="https://www.google.com/patents/US8553435">https://www.google.com/patents/US8553435</a>>.
- [82] SANDERS, S. R. et al. Generalized averaging method for power conversion circuits. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 6, n. 2, p. 251–259, apr 1991. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.76811">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.76811</a>>.
- [83] CHINIFOROOSH, S. et al. Definitions and applications of dynamic average models for analysis of power systems. *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics

Engineers (IEEE), v. 25, n. 4, p. 2655–2669, oct 2010. ISSN 0885-8977. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2010.2043859">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRD.2010.2043859</a>>.

- [84] KREIN, P. T. et al. On the use of averaging for the analysis of power electronic systems. *IEEE Transac*tions on Power Electronics, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 5, n. 2, p. 182–190, apr 1990. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.53155">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.53155</a>>.
- [85] PERALTA, J.; DENNETIERE, S.; MAHSEREDJIAN, J. Average-value models for the simulation of vsc-hvdc transmission systems. In: *Cigré Int. Symp. The Electric Power Syst. of the Future, Integrating* supergrids and microgrids, Bologna, Italy. [S.I.: s.n.], 2011. p. 13–15.
- [86] KUO, D.-S.; HU, C.; SAPP, S. P. An analytical model for the power bipolar-mos transistor. Solid-State Electronics, Elsevier BV, v. 29, n. 12, p. 1229–1237, dec 1986. ISSN 0038-1101. Available from Internet: <a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0038110186901280">http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0038110186901280</a>>.
- [87] HEFNER, A. R.; BLACKBURN, D. L. An analytical model for the steady-state and transient characteristics of the power insulated-gate bipolar transistor. *Solid-State Electron.*, Elsevier BV, v. 31, n. 10, p. 1513–1532, oct 1988. ISSN 0038-1101. Available from Internet: <a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0038110188900251">http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0038110188900251</a>>.
- [88] FOSSUM, J. G.; MCDONALD, R. J.; SHIBIB, M. A. Network representations of light structures for cad of power integrated circuits. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 35, n. 4, p. 507–515, apr 1988. ISSN 0018-9383. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/16.2486">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/16.2486</a>>.
- [89] HEFNER, A. R. Analytical modeling of device-circuit interactions for the power insulated gate bipolar transistor (igbt). *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 26, n. 6, p. 995–1005, nov 1990. ISSN 0093-9994. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/28.62382">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/28.62382</a>>.
- [90] METZNER, D.; VOGLER, T.; SCHRODER, D. A modular concept for the circuit simulation of bipolar power semiconductors. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 9, n. 5, p. 506–513, sep 1994. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.321036">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.321036</a>>.
- [91] STROLLO, A. G. M. A new igbt circuit model for spice simulation. In: Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1997. PESC '97 Record., 28th Annual IEEE. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 1997. v. 1, p. 133–138 vol.1. ISSN 0275-9306. Available from Internet: <http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.1997.616704>.
- [92] HEFNER, A. R. An investigation of the drive circuit requirements for the power insulated gate bipolar transistor (igbt). *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 6, n. 2, p. 208–219, apr 1991. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.76807">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.76807</a>>.
- [93] MANITOBA HVDC RES. CTR. PSCAD X4 User's Guide. Winnipeg, MB, Canada, 2009.

- [94] DOMMEL, H. W. Digital computer solution of electromagnetic transients in single-and multiphase networks. *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), PAS-88, n. 4, p. 388–399, apr 1969. ISSN 0018-9510. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPAS.1969.292459">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPAS.1969.292459</a>>.
- [95] PLEXIM GMBH. PLECS: The Simulation Plataform for Power Electronic Systems. User manual version 3.7. [S.l.], 2015.
- [96] MORGAN, R.; JONES, K. O. The use of simulation software to enhance student understanding. In: Engineering Education: Innovations in Teaching, Learning and Assessment (Ref. No. 2001/046), IEE International Symposium on. Institution of Engineering and Technology (IET), 2001. v. 2, p. 33/1-33/6. ISSN 0537-9989. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/ic:20010062">http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/ic:20010062</a>>.
- [97] WIPKE, K. B.; CUDDY, M. R.; BURCH, S. D. Advisor 2.1: a user-friendly advanced powertrain simulation using a combined backward/forward approach. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 48, n. 6, p. 1751–1761, nov 1999. ISSN 0018-9545. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/25.806767">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/25.806767</a>>.
- [98] LAURITZEN, P. O.; MA, C. L. A simple diode model with reverse recovery. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 6, n. 2, p. 188–191, apr 1991. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.76804">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/63.76804</a>>.
- [99] SHICHMAN, H.; HODGES, D. A. Modeling and simulation of insulated-gate field-effect transistor switching circuits. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 3, n. 3, p. 285–289, sep 1968. ISSN 0018-9200. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/JSSC.1968.1049902">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/JSSC.1968.1049902</a>>.
- [100] TREMBLAY, O.; DESSAINT, L. A.; DEKKICHE, A. I. A generic battery model for the dynamic simulation of hybrid electric vehicles. In: 2007 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2007. p. 284–289. ISSN 1938-8756. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/VPPC.2007.4544139">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/VPPC.2007.4544139</a>>.
- [101] KROEZE, R. C.; KREIN, P. T. Electrical battery model for use in dynamic electric vehicle simulations. In: 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2008. p. 1336–1342. ISSN 0275-9306. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.2008.4592119">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PESC.2008.4592119</a>>.
- [102] CHOE, G. Y. et al. Design of photovoltaic generation system using plecs. In: INT-ELEC 2009 - 31st International Telecommunications Energy Conference. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2009. p. 1–4. ISSN 0275-0473. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/INTLEC.2009.5351925">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/INTLEC.2009.5351925</a>>.
- [103] MEMAR, K.; MOAMAEI, P.; AHMADI, R. Developing a hierarchical modular pv array model using plecs block-set in matlab. In: *Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI)*, 2015 IEEE. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2015. p. 1–5. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PECI.2015.7064922">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/PECI.2015.7064922</a>>.

- [104] SLOOTWEG, J. G. et al. General model for representing variable speed wind turbines in power system dynamics simulations. *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 18, n. 1, p. 144–151, feb 2003. ISSN 0885-8950. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRS.2002.807113">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPWRS.2002.807113</a>>.
- [105] ROLIM, L. G. B.; COSTAJR., D. R. da; AREDES, M. Analysis and software implementation of a robust synchronizing pll circuit based on the pq theory. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 53, n. 6, p. 1919–1926, dec 2006. ISSN 0278-0046. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2006.885483">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TIE.2006.885483</a>>.
- [106] FORSYTH, A. J.; MOLLOV, S. V. Modelling and control of dc-dc converters. *Power Engineering Journal*, Institution of Engineering and Technology (IET), v. 12, n. 5, p. 229–236, oct 1998. ISSN 0950-3366. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/pe:19980507">http://dx.doi.org/10.1049/pe:19980507</a>>.
- [107] SIEMASZKO, D. et al. Evaluation of control and modulation methods for modular multilevel converters. In: *Power Electronics Conference (IPEC)*, 2010 International. Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), 2010. p. 746–753. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IPEC.2010.5544609">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/IPEC.2010.5544609</a>>.
- [108] LI, B. et al. Analysis of the phase-shifted carrier modulation for modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Institute of Electrical & Electronics Engineers (IEEE), v. 30, n. 1, p. 297–310, jan 2015. ISSN 0885-8993. Available from Internet: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2299802">http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TPEL.2014.2299802</a>>.

# APPENDIX A – MMC and SM Topologies Comparation

	DSC-MMC	Dual-MMC	SSC-MMC	SDC-MMC
Circulating current	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Voltage in unbalance condition	-	-	Higher than SDC	-
Current in unbalance condition	-	-	-	Higher than SSC
Voltage in balance condition	2/phase	2/phase	1/phase	$\sqrt{3}$ /phase
Current in balance condition	$\sqrt{3}$ /phase	$\sqrt{3}$ /phase	$\sqrt{3}$ /phase	1/phase
Capacitor size under balanced conditions	-	Higher than DSC	Higher than SDC	Lower than SSC
Capacitor size under unbalanced conditions	-	-	Lower than SDC	Higher than SSC
Hardware complexity	-	Higher than DSC	Lowest	-
Controller complexity	Easier than SSC	Medium-Hard	Medium	Easier than SSC

Table 8 – Comparison of Various MMC Topologies.

Table 9 – Comparison of Various SM Topologies [39].

SM circuit	HBSM	FBSM	3LSM-FC	3LSM-NPC	CDSM	5LCCSM
Voltage levels	$0, v_c$	$0, \pm v_c$	$0, v_{c1}, v_{c2}, (v_{c1} - v_{c2})$	$0, v_{c2}, (v_{c1} + v_{c2})$	$0, v_{c1}, v_{c2}, (v_{c1} + v_{c2})$	$0, v_{c1}, v_{c2}, \pm (v_{c1} + v_{c2})$
DC-fault-handling capability	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes
No. of capacitors per arm	20	20	20	20	20	20
No. of SMs per arm	20	20	10	10	10	10
No. of IGBTs per arm(inserting/bypassing)	40	80	40	40	40	40
No. of extra IGBTs per arm (conducting)	0	0	0	0	$20 \ (S5)$	$40 \ (S5 \ \text{and} \ S6)$
No. of extra diodes per arm	0	0	0	40	40	0
Estimated power losses	0.69%	0.96%	0.83%	0.83%	0.83%	0.83%
Extra power losses compared to the HBSM	0	39%	20%	20%	20%	20%

# APPENDIX B – Index Results

Signals	Type III Type		e IV Type		e Va	a Type Vb		Type VIa		Type VIb		
Digitais	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$
Output Voltage	0.0062	0.0062	0.0061	0.0059	0.0160	0.0162	0.0402	0.0407	0.1034	0.1093	0.0452	0.0421
Output Current	0.0055	0.0055	0.0054	0.0052	0.0122	0.0125	0.0210	0.0215	0.0821	0.0878	0.0278	0,0247
Arm Voltage	0.0043	0.0043	0.0047	0.0046	0.0129	0.0130	0.0650	0.0655	0.1115	0.1144	0.0698	0.0675
Capacitor Voltage	0	0.0103	0	0.0092	0	0.0223	0.0003	0.0047	0.1209	0	0.0142	0.0005
Arm Current	0.0635	0.0659	0.0638	0.0663	0.1014	0.1102	0.1590	0.1569	0.5211	0.5923	0.1646	0.2329

Table 11 – Index results from the signals on Figure 20  $\,$ 

Signals	Туре	Type III Type		e IV Type Va		e Va	Type Vb		Type VIa		Type VIb	
	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$	$i_p$	$i_n$
Output Voltage	0.0036	0.0036	0.0035	0.0034	0.0147	0.0148	0.0418	0.0418	0.0879	0.0857	0.0442	0.0431
Output Current	0.0034	0.0034	0.0033	0.0033	0.0111	0.0113	0.0254	0.0254	0.0684	0.0667	0.0287	0,0278
Arm Voltage	0.0029	0.0029	0.0029	0.0029	0.0123	0.0124	0.0659	0.0658	0.0742	0.0726	0.0678	0.0670
Capacitor Voltage	0	0.0046	0	0.0044	0.0019	0.0096	0.0004	0.0046	0.0939	0.0064	0.0112	0.0001
Arm Current	0.0726	0.0724	0.0713	0.0709	0.1567	0.1621	0.2291	0.2310	0.5772	0.6346	0.2422	0.2998